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Vision &
   Mission Statement

Vision Statement

To become a Major Global Fashion
Apparel Company

Mission Statement

To become a $300 Million
International Branded Jeans

Business by 2007

Cultural Pillar

The High Speed Passionate Pursuit
of Progress through Team Work
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Financial Highlights

    2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Operating performance (Rs. 000)    

Sales–Net 4,889,682 4,422,472 3,160,780 2,428,127 1,931,118 1,257,106

Export Sales–Gross 4,128,679 3,832,201 1,657,688 1,616,709 1,314,025 1,127,941

Local Sales–Gross 756,303 750,217 1,646,344 1,072,293 754,073 178,412

Gross profit 1,186,321 1,133,686 720,001 646,103 493,389 308,630

Operating profit 795,030 813,063 533,436 446,671 350,713 204,117

Profit before tax 1,260,084 792,137 398,677 248,440 146,321 61,883

Profit after tax 1,144,515 741,294 378,677 228,188 160,116 56,583 

Financial position (Rs. 000)

Share capital 3,788,839 1,737,309 1,737,309 868,654 868,654 319,057

Share premium 2,633,371 71,658 106,433 143,675 143,675 143,675

Capital reserve 944,891 331,674 255,709 107,368 105,152 –    

Unappropriated profit / (accumulated loss) 1,807,067 952,462 412,400 161,711 (92,057) (310,468)

9,174,168 3,093,103 2,511,851 1,281,408 1,025,424 152,265

Minority interest  –       –     2,743 –      –      –    

Shares Deposit Money –      –      –     –      –      40,000

Surplus on revaluation of fixed assets 257,361 278,944 306,565 330,249 355,829 253,289

Non–Participatory Redeemable Capital – Secured 5,786,172 2,678,233 750,000 650,000 2,798 4,042

Long term liabilities (leases & LT deposits) 11,267 43,082 117,652 150,093 384,649 377,478

Deferred liabilities (Staff gratuity) –       –      –     25,513 19,808 13,578

Current liabilities    

Current portion of Long term liabilities 450,047 433,781 363,082 160,799 140,431 154,429

Short term finances 6,006,118 3,142,402 1,492,910 1,428,656 995,880 557,810 

Creditors, accruals & other liabilities 1,275,610 791,641 701,846 747,930 552,548 207,767

Provision for taxation 195,249 79,680 64,825 44,825 30,735 8,864

Unclaimed dividends 22,312 362 95 96 116 –    

7,949,336 4,447,866 2,622,758 2,382,306 1,719,710 928,870 

Operating fixed assets and Capital work in progress 7,752,546 5,572,699 2,937,696 2,333,753 1,938,068 970,040

Intangible Assets 60,545 73,937 88,376    

Long term deposits & investments 6,323,396 34,415 19,533 6,315 19,761 17,805

14,136,487 5,681,051 3,045,605 2,340,068 1,957,829 987,845

Current Assets    

Stores, spares and loose tools 101,762 87,790 72,609 45,778 21,689 9,229

Stock in trade 2,022,511 2,034,181 1,425,587 1,265,777 722,376 246,192

Trade debtors 1,134,897 1,013,884 924,208 536,616 533,468 337,303

Short Term Investments 3,788,316 769,412 109,149  

Other current assets 1,413,425 909,267 713,461 609,728 249,380 168,574 

Cash & cash equivalents 580,906 45,642 20,949 21,602 23,477 20,380

9,041,817 4,860,175 3,265,963 2,479,501 1,550,389 781,677

Net working capital 1,092,481 412,309 643,205 97,195 (169,321) (147,193)

Total capital employed 15,228,968 6,093,360 3,688,810 2,437,263 1,788,508 840,651

Profitability analysis

Gross profit to sales (%) 24.26 25.63 22.78 26.61 25.55 24.55

    Operating profit to sales (%) 16.26 18.38 16.88 18.40 18.16 16.24

    Profit before tax to sales (%) 25.77 17.91 12.61 10.23 7.58 4.92

    Profit after tax to sales (%) 23.41 16.76 11.98 9.40 8.29 4.50

    Return on capital employed (%) 12.59 18.36 14.73 18.34 19.64 24.28

    Return on equity (%) 12.13 21.98 13.44 14.16 11.59 13.95

    Earnings per share (Rs.) (Please refer to Note 31)  4.97 7.62 4.33 2.63 2.64 2.08

Financial analysis

    Financial charges to sales (%) 13.27 6.57 3.91 7.65 10.21 10.75

    Current ratio (times) * 1.21 1.21 1.45 1.12  0.98  1.01

        *(excluding current portion of LT liabilities)

    Debt to equity (ratio) 40 : 60 48 : 52 30 : 70 37 : 63 28 : 72 57 : 43 

    Leverage ratio (times) 1.46 2.13 1.24 1.99 1.54 3.26

    Breakup value per share (Rs.) 24.89 19.41 16.22 18.55 15.90 13.96

    Inventory turnover (times per year) 1.83 1.90 1.79 1.79 2.97 4.38

    Fixed assets turnover (times) 0.73 1.04 1.20 1.14 1.33 1.26

    Interest cover (Rs.) 2.96 3.85 4.39 2.41 1.78 1.51
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Financial Highlights

Local Sales-GrossExport Sales-Gross
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Distribution of Revenue

Wealth Generated Rupees       % age

Sales - Net 6,504,962,162 
Other income 71,554,190 

Bought in material and services (3,173,395,365)

 3,403,120,987 100%

Wealth distribution/allocation

To Employees
Salaries Wages and benefits
Including Workers (Profit) Participation fund 801,440,355 24%

To Government
Income Tax,Sales Tax, Custom duty 59,448,993 2%

To Providers of Capital
Cash dividend for 2005 151,267,383 
Dividend on preference shares 59,225,581 
Charges on Borrowed Funds 1,187,223,953 

 1,397,716,917 40%

Profit retained 1,144,514,722 34%

Wealth generated 3,403,120,987 

Fixed Assets
Intangible Assets
Long Term Investments
Current Assets

Total Assets

40%
33%

27%

0%

Shareholders Equity
Long Term Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Shareholders’ Equity and Liabilities

23%

48%

29%

Wealth Distribution/Allocation

To Employees

To Government
To Providers of Capital

34%
24%

40%

2%

Profit Retained
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Notice is hereby given that the 14th Annual
General Meeting of AZGARD NINE LIMITED
(the “Company”) will be held on 28th June
2007 at 10.00 A.M at the Registered Office
of the Company Ismail Aiwan-i-Science, Off
Shahrah-i-Roomi, Lahore to transact the
following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To confirm the minutes of the Extra
Ordinary General Meeting held on
September 30, 2006;

2. To receive, consider and adopt the
financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2006 together with
Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon;

3. To approve cash dividend @ 11 % (i.e.
Rs.1.10 per ordinary share) as approved
and recommended by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”)
and to approve interim dividend already
paid to the Preference Shareholders @
8.95% as final dividend for the second
year ending on September 24, 2006;

4. To consider re- appointment of M/s Rahman
Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq & Company,
Chartered Accountants as external
auditors for the financial year ending
December 31, 2007 and to fix their
remuneration, as per the recommendation
of the Board;

5. To consider any other business that may
be placed before the members with the
permission of the chair.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

1. To consider and allow the Company to
invest in or to extend loan to its 100%
owned subsidiary, Pak American Fertilizers
Limited by way of passing following Special
Resolution, with or without modifications,
in terms of section 208 of the Companies
Ordinance 1984:

 “RESOLVED THAT

1. Azgard Nine Limited (the “Company”) be
and is hereby authorized to provide loan
of up to PKR 9 Billion for a period not
in excess of ten (10) years, to its subsidiary
company namely Pak American Fertilizers
Limited (“PAFL”), from the proceeds of
United States Dollar Financing proposed
to be obtained from the international
capital markets by the issue of bonds
(“Bonds”) on the following terms and
conditions:

i. the rate of return/mark up/interest on
the Loan to be paid by PAFL shall not be
less than the cost to the Company of
obtaining financing by the issue of Bonds.

ii. PAFL shall use the Loan to re-profile its
debt structure in an efficient manner.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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2. Each of the following (each referred to
as an “Authorized Officer”):

i. Mr. Ahmed H. Shaikh Chief Executive Officer
ii. Mr. Muhammad Ijaz Haider Company Secretary
iii. Mr. Tariq Mohammad Khan Group Director Finance
iv. Mr. Abid Amin Chief Financial Officer
v. Ms. Irum Ahsan In House Legal Counsel

be and is hereby authorized on behalf of
the Company to take all such incidental,
consequential and supplemental matters
as are necessary to fully and effectively
carry out the terms of this special
resolution including but not limited to
entering into agreement with PAFL on
behalf of the Company, for providing the
Loan to PAFL (“Loan Agreement”).

3. Without prejudice to the generality of
the authorization set out above and
without limiting the same but subject to
Paragraph 1 above, the Company, and each
Authorized Officer be and is hereby
authorized to:

(i) negotiate and agree upon terms and
conditions (including any amendments
to such terms and conditions) in
relation to the Loan (including, and
without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, tenor, interest rate or
return), as well as the security, if any,
to be provided in relation to the Loan;

(ii) sign and deliver on behalf of the
Company the Loan Agreement and any
other agreements or documents
(including any documents pursuant to
the Loan Agreement) on terms and
conditions considered appropriate or
necessary by each of them;

(iii) file the copy of this special resolution
on the prescribed forms with the
Securities and Exchange Commission
of Pakistan and the Registrar of
Companies within the prescribed time;

(iv) intimate the Karachi Stock Exchange
with respect to this special resolution;

(v) take all such other actions, execute
all such other documents and do all
such things as may be considered
necessary or appropriate by them, or
may be required, in relation to the
Loan.”

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lahore; (MUHAMMAD IJAZ HAIDER)
June 06, 2007 Company Secretary
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NOTES:

1. The share transfer books of the Company
will remain closed from June 22, 2007
to June 28, 2007. (both days inclusive).

2. The Preference Shareholders are not
entitled to attend the meeting.

3. A share holder entitled to attend and
vote at this meeting may appoint another
share holder as his/her proxy to attend
and vote on his/her behalf. The instrument
appointing a Proxy and the power of
attorney or other authority under which
it is signed or a notarially certified copy
of the power of attorney must be received
at the Registered Office of the Company
duly stamped, signed and witnessed not
later than 48 hours before the meeting.
An instrument of proxy applicable for
meeting is attached herewith.

4. Share holders whose Shares are deposited
with Central Depository System (CDS) are
requested to bring their National Identity
Card (NIC) along with their Account
Number in CDS for verification. In case
of corporate entity, the Board of
Directors’ resolution/power of attorney
with specimen signatures of the nominee
shall be produced (unless it has been
provided earlier) at the time of the meeting.

5. Incase of proxy for an individual beneficial
owner of CDC, attested copies of beneficial
owner’s NIC or passport, account and
participant’s ID numbers must be deposited
alongwith the form of proxy.
Representative of corporate members
should bring the usual documents
required for such purpose.

6. Share holders are requested to notify
any change in their addresses immediately.

Notice of Annual General Meeting



AZGARD-9

A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 6 13

“Statement under Section 160 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 is attached
with the Annual Report circulated to the members of the Company”.

STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 160 (1) (b) OF THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE, 1984, READ WITH
S.R.O. 865 (I)/ 2000, DATED 6TH DECEMBER, 2000.

i. (a) Name of Investee Company Pak American Fertilizers Limited (“PAFL”)
(b) Amount of Loan Not in excess of PKR 9 Billion
(c) Purpose of Loan To re-profile its debt structure in an efficient

manner.
(d) Details of any existing / None

written off loan

ii. Brief about the financial position PAFL was incorporated on December 15, 1959
of Investee Company (PAFL) on the under the Companies Act, 1913 Now Companies
basis of last published Ordinance 1984 as Public Limited Company
financial statement (unlisted). The Company is engaged in

production and sale of Urea Fertilizer. The
Registered Office of the Company is Situated
at Ismail Aiwan-i-Science, Off Shahrah-i-Roomi,
Lahore. The Company acquired 100% stake in
PAFL on 15th July 2006 through the
privatization process of Government of
Pakistan.

As per the half yearly financial statements
of the Company for the six months ended
December 31, 2006, the net revenue of PAFL
was Rs.1,612,042,830 with gross profit of
Rs.706,235,849 with a gross profit percentage
of 44%. The company earned a net profit of
Rs.63,808,493. Total Assets of the Company
as at  December  31,  2006 were
Rs.16,788,282,239 against total Liabilities
Rs.11,165,993,772.

iii. Rate of mark-up to be charged 1 % above the financial cost of bonds as
discussed under point v below.

iv. Particulars of collateral security No security is currently envisaged. The
to be obtained from borrower; if not investee company is a fully owned subsidiary
needed, the justification thereof of Azgard Nine Limited and both companies

are under common management control

v. Source of funds from where loan Azgard Nine Limited is planning to obtain
or advance will be given United States Dollar financing from the

international capital markets by the issue of
Bonds for a period not exceeding 10 years. 
The loan to PAFL will be made out of the 
proceeds of this bond financing.

vi. Repayment schedule Principal amount will be paid on the maturity
date determined in line with the maturity date
of the bonds as discussed above but not to 
exceed a period of ten years from the date of
loan whereas interest is payable semi annually.

vii. Benefits likely to accrue to the The investing company, Azgard Nine Limited and
company and the shareholders from its shareholders will be benefited in a manner
the loan and advances that their investment will fetch a return of

one percent over and above the mark up rate
at which the investing company has borrowed.
The efficient debt re-profiling of Investee
Company will enable it to carry out its future
plans ultimately benefiting the Investing
Company and its shareholders through the
Dividends from the Investee Company.

The Directors do not have any personal interest with respect to the proposed loan except
that some of the Directors such as Mr. Ahmed Shaikh, Mr. Aehsun Sheikh, and Mr. Ali
Jehangir Siddiqui are also directors of PAFL.
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Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors along with  other members of the management of your Company,

Azgard Nine Limited are pleased to present herewith the Annual Audited Financial

Statements of the Company in respect of its financial year December 31, 2006, together

with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Following is the annual review of the Company’s operations:

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Board of Directors feels immense pleasure to report another hallmark year in which

your Company has successfully managed to maintain consistent growth. The financial

results are as follows:

Financial Results 2006 2005

(12-Months) (15 Months)

Rupees Rupees

Sales-Net 4,889,681,966 4,422,472,357

Operating Profit 795,030,222    813,063,411

Financial Charges 648,649,925    290,508,556

Profit before Tax 1,260,083,804    792,136,936

Profit after Tax 1,144,514,722    741,293,665

Gross profit margins for the textile sector have generally declined over the period, but

due to its business strategy, the Company was able to earn a profit before tax of

Rs.1,260,083,804 and profit after tax of Rs.1,144,514,722.

This year, once again the Company experienced high acceptability of its premium products

in the international markets.
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COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Textile

In 2006, Azgard Nine Limited (the Company),

has by the Grace of God, achieved

remarkable level of sales and profitability

across all of its divisions i.e. Spinning,

Denim and Garments. Our well strategised

eff ic ient product ion focused on

internationally recognized quality of

products and services, allowed us to

compete well in challenging market

conditions.

Fertilizers

During this year the Company has acquired

Pak American Fertilizers Ltd from the

Pakistan Government. PAFL is the lowest

cost urea producer in Pakistan. The plant

is currently operating at 107% of the name

plate capacity, as a result of initiatives

undertaken by the management.  The higher

levels of efficiency in our production

process has resulted in  PAFL’s fuel cost

per ton being 26% lower than its major

competitors, for the year ended December

31, 2006.  We expect our fuel cost per ton

to further decrease as a result of our new

power plant, which is already operating in

a trial phase and should commence

commercial operations in June 2007.

Challenges and Concerns

The Pakistan Textile Industry is seen to be

one of the prominent players in the Global

Textile/Apparel Trade. Survival and success

in the post WTO Regime requires efficient

management of resources, top quality and

a competitive cost base. Your company has

responded well to the situation by

promoting its premium products in the local

and international market, where the

response has been positive.
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Textile Industry, in Pakistan, has been facing

tough competition from prominent industry

players in the region, like China, India, Sri

Lanka and Bangladesh. These competitors

are operating under the supportive

regulatory regime providing various fiscal

subsidies. While in Pakistan Government

support is nominal.

Global demand for textile products is

growing at 2.5% annually. There is an

immense potential for textile exports from

Pakistan, particularly in the value added

products segment. The management feels

that the futures offers growth while

margins will remained under pressure.

Earning Per Share

The earning per share of the Company for

the period ended December 31, 2006 was

Rs.4.97.

Corporate Governance & Financial

Reporting Framework

As required by the Code of Corporate

Governance, the directors are pleased to

report that:

• the financial statements prepared by

the management of the Company present

accurate state of Company’s operations,

cash flows and changes in equity;

• proper books of account of the Company

have been maintained.

• appropriate accounting policies have

been consistently applied in the

preparation of financial statements and

accounting estimates are based on

reasonable and prudent judgment.

• international accounting standards, as

applicable in Pakistan, have been

followed in the preparation of financial

statements.

• the system of internal controls are

sound and have been effectively

implemented and monitored.

• The Board is satisfied that the Company

is performing well as a going concern

under the Code of Corporate

Governance.

• there has been no material departure

from the best practices of corporate

governance as detailed in the listing

regulations of the stock exchanges.

• key operating and financial data for the

last six years is annexed.

• there are no statutory payments on

account of taxes, duties, levies and

charges which are outstanding as on

December 31, 2006 except for those

disclosed in the financial statements.

• The value of the provident fund

investments as on December 31, 2006

was Rs.42.795 million (December 31,

2005: 33.547 million)

• no material changes and commitments

affecting the financial position of your

Company have occurred between the end

of the financial year to which this

balance sheet relates and the date of

the Directors’ Report.

Dividend

The Directors are pleased to recommend

payment of cash dividend @ 11 % (i.e. Rs.

1.10 per share) to the Ordinary

Shareholders of the Company subject to

the approval of the members of the Company

in their meeting scheduled for June 28,

2007.

The Company has already paid interim

preferred dividend to the Preference

Shareholders for the Second year ending

September 24, 2006 @ 8.95% (i,e Rs.0.895

per share). The said interim dividend will be

recommended as final dividend to the

Preference Shareholders for the second

year ending September 24, 2006.

Directors’ Report
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Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Company is

predominantly independent which ensures

transparency and good corporate

governance. The Board comprises five non

executive Directors including the Chairman

and two Executive Directors (including the

Chief Executive Officer). These Non

Executive Directors have had vast

experience of business, government and

judiciary; hence they contribute valuable

inputs and ensure that the company is

operating on world class principles of

legal and corporate compliance.

Nine meetings of the Board of Directors

were held during the period under review.

Attendance by each director is as follows:

Name of Director Eligibility Attended

Mr. Mueen Afzal 9 8

Mr. Ahmed H. Shaikh 9 9

Chief Justice (R)

Mian Mahboob Ahmad 9 8

Mr. Aehsun M. H. Shaikh 9 9

Mr. Ali Jehangir Siddiqui 9 8

Mr. Khalid A.H. Al-Sagar 9 –

Mr. Mohammed Khaishgi 9 2

Leave of absence was granted to the

members who could not attend the meetings.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates with a mandate

of monitoring compliance with relevant

statutory provisions including the Code of

Corporate Governance. Its responsibilities

include, inter alia, ensuring transparent

and sound internal audit and control

systems, accounting system and reporting

structure. Moreover it is also entrusted

with a duty of   safeguarding Company’s

assets., It conducts preliminary review of

business plans,  quarterly, half-yearly and

annual results and make appropriate

recommendations  to the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises of five

members with four Non Executive Directors

as members and one executive Director. The

Committee met five times during the period

under review. The names of its members are

provided in the Company’s information.

Internal Audit function

The Board has implemented a sound and

effective internal control system including

operational, financial and compliance

controls to carry on the business of the

Company in a controlled environment in an

efficient manner to address the Company's

basic objectives.

Directors’ Report
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Internal audit findings are reviewed by the

Audit Committee, where necessary, action

taken on the basis of recommendations

contained in the internal audit reports.

Human Capital

The company recognizes that its human

resource is its most valuable asset.

The Board remains committed to ensuing

that all employees are treated with dignity

and respect, and that the working

environment is one where each employee’s

contribution is recognized and valued. To

motivate the employees, the compensation

and benefits are linked to individual and

group performances, which are now being

evaluated through well implemented

performance appraisal system.

Information Technology

The Company is in the process of developing

and upgrading its management information

systems. IT infrastructure has been set up

utilizing state of the art equipment and

high speed radio link with the head office

and Manga site.

The implementation of the first phase of

the implementation of Oracle Financials

Application has been completed after

parallel processing and through testing

of the application processing system during

the year. The Company plans to implement

production management, inventory, human

resource and payroll modules in the next

phase to enable easier flow of information,

improve sharing and decision making.

Safety, Health and Environment

The Company strictly complies with the

rules, regulations and standards of health,

safety and environment.. The Company’s

safe operations are certified by various

international accrediting agencies including

ISO 9000 and ISO 14001.  We conduct

regular sessions on safety awareness due

to which no major accident was reported

during the year.

Consolidated Financial statements

Consolidated financial statements of the

Company and its following subsidiary

companies are also included in this report.

• Pak American Fertilizers Limited

• Nafees International Tekstil Sanays Ve

Ticaret Anonim Sirket

• Azsoft (Private) Limited
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Auditors

Messrs Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq

& Company, Chartered Accountants

completed their tenure of appointment and

being eligible have offered their services

for another term. The Audit Committee and

the Board has also recommended their re-

appointment as External Auditors of the

Company for the next financial year 2007.

Shareholding Pattern

The shareholding pattern as at December

31, 2006 including the information under

the Code of Corporate of Governance, for

ordinary and preference shares, is annexed

Web Presence

Annual and periodical financial statements

of the Company are also available on the

Azgard9 website  for information of the

shareholders and others.

Acknowledgement

The Board would like to avail this

opportunity to thank our valued customers

and the financial institutions whose faith

and support over the years has fostered

a mutually beneficial relationship which

has played a pivotal role in the growth of

the business.

The board also wishes to place on record

its appreciation for the employees of the

Company.  All this has been possible with

there hard work and commitment.

       On behalf of the Board

Lahore Chief Executive Officer

April 28, 2007

Directors’ Report
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This statement is being presented to comply

with the Code of Corporate Governance

contained in Regulation No. 37 of listing

regulations of Karachi Stock Exchange for the

purpose of establishing a framework of good

governance, whereby the Company is managed

in compliance with the best practices of

corporate governance.

The Company has applied the principles contained

in the Code in the following manner:

1. At present the Board of directors

includes five (5) non-executive directors.

2. The directors have confirmed that none

of them is serving as a director in more

than ten listed companies, including this

Company.

3. All the resident directors are registered

as taxpayers and none of them has

defaulted in payment of any loan to a

banking company, a DFI or an NBFI or,

being a member of a stock exchange, has

been declared as a defaulter by that

stock exchange.

4. No casual vacancy occurred during the

year ended December 31, 2006.

5. The Company has prepared a “Statement

of Ethics and Business Practices”, which

has been signed by all the directors and

employees of the Company.

6. The business operations of the Company

are carried out in accordance with the

Company's Vision/Mission statement,

overall corporate strategy and

significant policies of the Company. A

complete record of particulars of

significant policies along with the dates

on which they were approved or amended

has been maintained.

7. All the powers of the Board have been

duly exercised and decisions on material

transactions have been taken by the

Board.

8. The meetings of the Board were presided

over by the Chairman and, in his absence,

by a director elected by the Board for

this purpose and the Board met at least

once in every quarter. Written notices

of the Board meetings, along with agenda

and working papers, were circulated at

least seven days before the meetings.

The minutes of the meetings were

appropriately recorded and circulated.

9. The Board arranged orientation courses

from time to time for its directors during

the year to apprise them of their duties

and responsibilities

10. Chief Financial Officer, Company

Secretary and Head of Internal Audit

executed their responsibilities in

accordance with the appointments

approved by the Board including their

remuneration and terms and conditions

of employment, as determined by the Chief

Executive.

11. The Directors are well conversant with

the listing regulations, legal

requirements and operational imperatives

of the company, and as such fully aware

of their duties and responsibilities.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
with Best Practices of Code of Corporate Governance for the Year Ended December 31, 2006
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12. The directors’ report for this year has

been prepared in compliance with the

requirements of the Code and fully

describes the salient matters required

to be disclosed.

13. The financial statements of the Company

were duly endorsed by CEO and CFO

before approval of the Board.

14. The directors, CEO and executives do

not hold any interest in the shares of

the Company other than that disclosed

in the pattern of shareholding.

15. The Company has complied with all the

corporate and financial reporting

requirements of the Code.

16. The Board has formed an audit committee.

It comprises five members, of whom four

are non-executive directors including

the chairman of the committee.

17. The meetings of the Audit Committee were

held at least once every quarter prior

to the approval of interim and final

results of the Company and as required

by the Code. The term of reference of

the committee have been formed and

advised to the committee for compliance.

18. The Board has set-up an effective internal

audit function manned by suitably

qualified and experienced personnel who

are conversant with the policies and

procedures of the Company and are

involved in the internal audit function

on a full time basis.�

19. The statutory auditors of the Company

have confirmed that they have been given

a satisfactory rating under the quality

control review programme of the

Institute of Chartered Accountants of

Pakistan, that they or any of the partners

of the firm, their spouses and minor

children do not hold shares of the

Company and that the firm and all its

partners are in compliance with

International Federation of Accountants

(IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as

adopted by Institute of Chartered

Accountants of Pakistan.

20. We confirm that all other material

principles contained in the code have

been complied with.

By Order of the Board

Ahmed H. Shaikh

April 28, 2007 Chief Executive
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We have reviewed the Statement of Compliance with the best practices contained in the Code

of Corporate Governance prepared by the Board of Directors of AZGARD NINE LIMITED to

comply with the Listing Regulation No. 37 of the Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited

where the Company is listed.

The responsibility for compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is that of the Board

of Directors of the Company. Our responsibility is to review, to the extent where such compliance

can be objectively verified, whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the

Company's compliance with the provisions of the Code of Corporate governance and report if

it does not. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company personnel and review of

various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Code.

As part of our audit of financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the

accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective

audit approach. We have not carried out any special review of the internal control system to

enable us to express an opinion as to whether the Board's statement on internal control covers

all controls and the effectiveness of such internal controls.

Based on our review of the aspects of the Statement of Compliance with the best practices of

Corporate Governance, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the

Statement of Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance to the Code

of Corporate Governance to the extent it is presently applicable in all material respects, with

the best practices contained in the Code of Corporate Governance as applicable to the Company

for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Lahore; Rahman Sarfaraz & Co.

Date: April 28, 2007 Chartered Accountants

REVIEW REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
ON STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE PRACTICES OF CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

We have audited the annexed balance sheet of AZGARD NINE LIMITED as at December 31, 2006

and the related profit and loss account, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity

together with the notes forming part thereof, for the year then ended and we state that we

have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and

belief, were necessary for the purpose of our audit.

It is the responsibility of the company's management to establish and maintain a system of internal

control, and prepare and present the above said statements in conformity with the approved

accounting standards and the requirements of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on these statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan.

These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the above said statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the above said

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies and significant estimates

made by management, as well as, evaluating the overall presentation of the above said statements.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion and, after due verification,

we report that--

a) in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company as required by the

Companies Ordinance, 1984;

b) in our opinion--

i. the balance sheet and profit and loss account together with the notes thereon

have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Ordinance, 1984, and are in

agreement with the books of account and are further in accordance with accounting

policies consistently applied except for the changes specified in note 2.19 to the

financial statements with which we concur;

ii. the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the company's

business; and

iii. the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during the

year were in accordance with the objects of the company;
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c) in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given

to us, the balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash flow statement and statement

of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof conform with approved

accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required by the

Companies Ordinance, 1984, in the manner so required and respectively give a true and

fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at December 31, 2006 and of the Profit,

its cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended; and

d) in our opinion, Zakat deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980

(XVIII of 1980), was deducted by the Company and deposited in the Central Zakat Fund

established under section 7 of that Ordinance.

Lahore Rahman Sarfaraz & Co.

Date: April 28, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December, 2006

31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Authorised 3 15,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

Issued, subscribed and paid up 3 3,788,838,900 1,737,308,680
Reserves 4 3,578,262,182 403,331,469
Unappropriated profit 1,807,067,052 952,462,490

9,174,168,134 3,093,102,639

SURPLUS ON REVALUATION
OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 5 257,360,867 278,943,671

REDEEMABLE CAPITAL 6 2,266,955,064 2,330,312,532

LONG TERM FINANCING 7 3,519,216,988 347,920,000

LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FINANCE LEASE 8 9,622,618 40,173,972

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 9 1,643,889 2,907,643

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of   
long term liabilities 10 450,047,125 433,780,774

Short term borrowings 11 6,006,117,630 3,142,402,324
Fair value of obligations under swap contracts 4.2 32,021,607 –
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities 12 1,243,588,067 791,641,172
Provision for taxation 13 195,249,017 79,679,935
Unclaimed dividends 22,312,061 362,062

7,949,335,507 4,447,866,267

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 14

23,178,303,067 10,541,226,724

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive
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31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 7,601,895,866 3,113,043,032
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS 16 150,650,477 2,459,655,906
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 60,544,809 73,937,276

7,813,091,152 5,646,636,214

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 18 6,303,488,906 4,670,138

LONG TERM DEPOSITS AND RECEIVABLE 19 19,906,757 29,745,135

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores, spares and loose tools 20 101,762,486 87,790,355
Stock in trade 21 2,022,510,924 2,034,180,550
Trade debts 22 1,134,897,149 1,013,883,584
Fair value derivative financial instruments 4.2 555,680,244 13,458,916
Advances, deposits, prepayments   

and other receivables 23 857,744,304 895,807,879
Short term investments 24 3,788,315,521 769,411,595
Cash and bank balances 25 580,905,624 45,642,358

9,041,816,252 4,860,175,237

23,178,303,067 10,541,226,724

Director
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year ended 31 December, 2006

01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 30 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees

SALES - Net 26 4,889,681,966 4,422,472,357

COST OF SALES 27 3,703,361,406 3,288,786,063
   

GROSS PROFIT 1,186,320,560 1,133,686,294

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES 28 391,290,338 320,622,883
   

OPERATING PROFIT 795,030,222 813,063,411

OTHER INCOME 30 1,122,601,656 305,447,731
   

1,917,631,878 1,118,511,142
OTHER CHARGES

Finance cost 31 648,649,925 290,508,556
Workers' profit participation fund 12.2 7,753,166 24,509,700
Others 32 1,144,983 11,355,950

657,548,074 326,374,206

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 1,260,083,804 792,136,936

PROVISION FOR TAXATION 13.1 115,569,082 50,843,271
   

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 1,144,514,722 741,293,665

EARNINGS PER SHARE - Basic 33 4.97 7.42

- Diluted 4.67 6.47

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December, 2006

01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 30 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 1,260,083,804 792,136,936
Adjustment for:

Depreciation 245,662,739 264,030,365
Amortization of intangible assets 16,273,349 40,530,337
Gain on sale of investments (58,478,149) (199,442,372)
Unrealized gain on investments –        (35,039,438)
Mark–up on term finance certificates (4,206,768) (29,038,697)
Dividend income (1,058,711,503) (38,934,462)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 48,215 6,661,778
Fair value adjustment on long term investment 996,768 –       
Interest income (7,414,660) (17,966,099)
Financial charges 656,064,585 308,474,655

(209,765,424) 299,276,067

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,050,318,380 1,091,413,003

Changes in working capital 37 316,570,744 (937,900,310)

Cash flow from operations 1,366,889,124 153,512,693

Financial charges paid (515,026,430) (180,351,069)
Expenses on issue of company's securities (35,203,132) (34,775,530)
Long term deposits 9,838,378 (11,227,305)
Long term deposits payable (1,263,753) 1,759,914
Taxes paid (90,914,500) (57,758,405)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 734,319,687 (128,839,702)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Fixed capital expenditure (2,445,557,754) (2,916,815,165)
Intangible assets (2,880,882) (1,174,441)
Sale proceeds of fixed assets 19,999,396 5,652,825
Long term investments (10,086,113,366) (100,482,545)
Short term investments 827,889,744 (327,296,310)
Mark–up received on term finance certificates 4,206,768 29,038,697
Dividend income 1,058,711,503 38,934,462
Interest received 7,414,660 17,966,099

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (10,616,329,931) (3,254,176,378)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Ordinary shares issued 4,648,446,653 –        
Redeemable capital (63,357,468) 2,143,670,000
Long term finances obtained 3,307,350,000 –        
Repayment of long term finances (116,666,666) (150,000,000)
Finance lease liabilities paid (33,671,349) (71,068,422)
Short term finances– net 2,863,715,305 1,649,492,432
Dividend paid (188,542,965) (164,343,349)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 10,417,273,510 3,407,750,661

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 535,263,266 24,734,581
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 45,642,358 20,907,777

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 580,905,624 45,642,358

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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1 STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in Pakistan as a public limited company and its shares are
quoted at Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The Company is a composite spinning,
weaving, dyeing and stitching unit engaged in the manufacturing of yarn, denim and denim
products. The registered office of the Company is situated at Ismail Aiwan–e–Science, Off
Shahrah–e–Roomi, Lahore.

The Company also has investment in Pak–American Fertilizers Limited engaged in production
and sale of urea fertilizer. Pak–American Fertilizers Limited was acquired through
privatization process of the Government of Pakistan on 15 July, 2006.

1.1 Change in financial year

The Company was accorded approval by commissioner of income tax to adopt calendar
year as financial year with effect from January 01, 2006 and also obtained special
permission from SECP to prepare financial statements exceeding twelve months
for the previous reporting period. As such the financial statements are prepared
for twelve months and corresponding figures of profit and loss account, cash
flow statement, statement of changes in equity and the related notes are for
fifteen months.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparation of financial statements are set
out below.

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies
Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance). Approved accounting standards comprise of such
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) / International Accounting
Standards (IASs) as notified under the provisions of the Ordinance. Where the
requirements of the Ordinance or directives issued by the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan differ with the requirements of these standards, the
requirements of the Ordinance or the said directives take precedence.

2.2 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss account,
derivative financial instruments, available for sale financial assets are measured
at fair value and certain property, plant and equipment at revalued amount.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting
standards requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions and judgements
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision effects only that period, or in the period of revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas where
various assumptions and estimates are significant to Company's financial statements
or where judgements were exercised in application of accounting policies are as
follows:

– Useful life of depreciable Assets
– Taxation
– Provisions and contingencies
– Fair value of investments, derivatives and other financial instruments

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006



AZGARD-9

32

2.3 Staff retirement benefits

Company operates an approved defined contributory provident fund for its employees
exculding expatriates. Equal contributions are made by employee and the Company
@ 8.5 % per month of basic pay. Interest is charged @ 8.25% on the outstanding
fund balance and is charged to profit and loss account.

2.4 Taxation

Income tax expenses comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognised in profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case it is recognsed in equity.

Current

Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax payable and adjustments,
if any, to provision for tax made in prior years arising from assessments completed
during the year for such years.

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on all temporary timing
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial statements' reporting purposes taking
into consideration the implications of taxes payable under presumptive tax regime,
if any. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied
to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these assets can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the rates that are expected
to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based
on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except in the case of items credited or charged to equity in which case
it is included in equity.

2.5 Fixed capital expenditure and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land, are stated at cost or revalued
amounts less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any . Freehold land
is stated at revalued amount less identified impairment loss, if any. Cost in relation
to self constructed assets includes direct cost of material, labour and any other
costs directly attributeable to bringing the asset to a working conditions of its
intended use.

The cost of replacing the part of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognized in the carrying amount of the the items if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodies within parts will flow to the company and its cost can
be measured reliably.

Depreciation is charged to income on the reducing balance method whereby cost
of an asset is written off over its estimated useful life at the rates given in note
15. Amount equal to incremental depreciation charged during the year on revalued
amount of assets is transferred from surplus on revaluation of fixed assets to
unappropriated profit/accumulated loss through statement of changes in equity.
The adjustments made in this context and the amounts involved have been disclosed
in note 5 (surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment).

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each
financial year–end.

Depreciation on additions is charged on a pro–rata basis from the month of use,
while for disposals depreciation is charged up to the month of disposal. Where
an impairment loss is recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future
periods to allocate the assets revised carrying amount over its estimated useful
life.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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Maintenance and repairs are charged to income as and when incurred. Major
renewals and improvements are capitalized and the assets so replaced, if any, are
retired. Gains and losses on disposals of assets are included in income. When
revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserve is transferred
to retained earnings.

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at
cost and represents expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment during
the construction and installation. Cost also includes applicable borrowing costs.
Transfers are made to relevant property, plant and equipment category as and
when assets are available for commercial use.

2.6 Intangible assets

2.6.1 Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new
scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit and
loss when incurred.

Expenditure on research activities is recognized as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to design and
testing of new or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets only if
all of the following conditions are met;

– development costs can be measured reliably,
– the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, 
– and the the company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete

development and to use or sell the asset,
– an asset is created that can be identified; and
– it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits.

All other development expenditures are recognized as an expense when incurred.
Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an
asset in the subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalized are
amortized from the commencement of the commercial production of the product on
a straight line basis over the period of its expected benefits. The amortization
period adopted does not exceed five years.

Capitlised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses.

2.6.2 Others

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software products and have
probable economic benefits beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets.

Softwares and other intangible assets are amortized over the period of their
expected benefits. The amortization period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.7 Lease

Operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the income statement on a straight–line basis over the period of the lease.

Finance leases

Leases in terms of which the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets subject to finance lease are
stated at the lower of present value of minimum lease payments under the lease
agreements or the fair value of the assets, less accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss, if any.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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The related rental obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and
long term depending upon the timing of the payment.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense
is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease
payments , if any are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over
the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed. The interest
element of the rental is charged to income over the lease term.

Assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the estimated useful
life of the asset at the rates given in note 15. Depreciation of leased assets is
charged to income.

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each financial
year–end.

2.8 Investments

2.8.1 Investment in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries made in current year are initially measured at cost,
cost in relation of investment made in foreign currency is determined by translating
the consideration paid in foreign currency at the exchange rates prevailing on the
date of transactions. Subsequent to initial recognition investments are measured
at fair value. Any gains/losses arising on fair value measurements are taken to
statement of changes in equity.

The fair value is the amount for which the investment in subsidiary could be
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction
and is based on management's best estimate.

Previously, subsequent to initial recognition these were valued at cost. Change
in policy is brought into effect to properly reflect the financial position and
results of the Company and its subsidiaries and has resulted in increase in value
of long term investments by Rs.1,993,253 and consequently increase in reserves
of the Company by the same amount.

2.8.2 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

These include investments classified as held for trading or upon initial recognition
it is designated by the Company as at fair value through profit or loss. Investments
which are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short
term fluctuations in price or dealer's margin are classified as held for trading.
After initial recognition, these are stated at fair values with any resulting gains
and losses recognized directly in income currently. Fair value of investments is
their quoted bid price at the balance sheet date.

2.8.3 Available for sale

Investments which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may
be sold in response to the need for liquidity are classified as available–for–sale.
After initial recognition, these are stated at fair values unless fair value cannot
be measure reliably with any resulting gains and losses being taken directly to
equity until the investment is disposed or impaired. At the time of disposal, the
respective surplus or deficit is transferred to income currently. Fair value of
quoted investments is their bid price at the balance sheet date.

2.8.4 Held to maturity investments

Investment with fixed maturity that the management has the intent and ability to
hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity and are initially recognised at
cost and at subsequent reporting dates measured at amortised cost using the
effective yield method.
All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date, which
is the date that the Company commits to purchase, or sell the investment. Cost
of purchase includes transaction cost.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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Changes in carrying value are recognized in equity until investment is sold or
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in equity is included in profit and loss account for the year.

2.9 Stores, spares and loose tools

Usable stores, spares and loose tools generally held for internal use are valued
principally at moving average cost, while items considered obsolete are carried at
nil value. Items in transit are valued at cost comprising invoice value plus other
charges paid therein.

Previously these were valued at first in first out cost. Change in policy is brought
into effect to properly reflect the consumption pattern and match it with the
related economic benefits derived and has resulted in increase in value of stores,
spares and loose tools by Rs.3,522,597 and consequently increase in profit for
the year by the same amount. The change has immaterial effect on earning per share.
Retrospective effect has not been made due to immateriality.

2.10 Stock in trade

Basis of valuation are as follows:

Raw materials
At mills – At lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value
In–transit – At cost accumulated to the balance sheet date
Work in process – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realizable value
Finished goods – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realizable value
Waste – At net realizable value

Average manufacturing cost in relation to work in process and finished goods
includes prime cost and proportion of production overheads.

Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in ordinary course of
business less cost necessary to be incurred in order to make the sales.

Raw materials were previously valued at first in first out cost. Change in policy
is brought into effect to properly reflect the consumption pattern and match it
with the related economic benefits derived and has resulted in increase in value
of raw materials by Rs.8,342,960 and consequently increase in profit for the year
by the same amount. The change has immaterial effect on earning per share.
Retrospective effect has not been made due to immateriality.

2.11 Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, except those covered
under forward exchange contracts which are stated at contracted rate. Foreign
currency transactions are translated into Pak Rupees prevailing at the date of
transaction except for those covered by forward contracts, which are translated
at contracted rates. Exchange differences are included in current profit and loss
account.

2.12 Financial instruments

2.12.1 Financial assets

All financial assets have been stated in accordance with the requirements of
IAS–39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Financial assets are
initially recognized at cost which is the fair value of the consideration given at
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are carried
at fair value except any financial assets whose fair value cannot be estimated
reliably.

A 'regular way' purchase or sale of financial assets are recognized using trade
date accounting.
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2.12.2 Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognized at cost, which is the fair value of
the consideration received at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition
financial liabilities are carried at fair value except any financial liabilities whose
fair value cannot be estimated reliability,  amortized cost or cost as the case may
be.

2.12.3 De–recognition

Financial assets are de–recognized when the Company losses control of the
contractual rights that comprise the financial assets.

Financial liabilities are de–recognized when they are extinguished, that is, when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Gain or loss, if any, on de–recognition and settlement of financial assets and
liabilities is included in profit and loss in the period in which it arises.

2.12.4 Trade debtors

Trade debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts, if any.

2.12.5 Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the
fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services.

2.12.6 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made.

2.12.7 Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set–off and the net amount is reported
in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
and the Company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets
and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.12.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash–in–hand and balances with banks.

2.12.9 Derivative financial instruments

These are initially recorded at cost being the fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the
item being hedged. The company designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedges.

The company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between
the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The company
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis,
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in cash flow of hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the profit and loss account.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recognized in profit and loss account in the
periods when the hedged item will effect profit or loss. However, when the forecast
hedged transaction results in the recognition of a non–financial asset or a liability,
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and
included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
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2.13 Dividend

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognized in equity in the period in which it is
approved.

2.14 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for
goods sold, net of discounts and sales tax. Revenue is recognized when it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to
the Company and the amount of revenue, and the associated cost incurred, or to
be incurred, can be measured reliably.

– Revenue from local sales is recognized on dispatch of goods to customers.
– Revenue from export sales is recognized on shipment basis.
– Export rebate is recognized when entitlement is established.
– Dividend income is recognized when the Company's right to receive payment is

established.
– Interest/Mark–up income is recognized on accrual basis.

2.15 Government Grants

Grants that compensate the company for expenses incurred are recognised in profit
and loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
recognised as stated in note 29. Grants that compensate the company for the cost
of an asset are recognised in profit and loss account on a systematic basis over
the useful life of the asset. Other government grants are recognised initially as
deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the company will comply with the conditions associated with the grant.

2.16 Finance cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which
these are incurred.

2.17 Related party transactions

All transactions involving related parties arising in the normal course of business
are conducted at arm's length using valuation modes, as admissible. Parties are
said to be related when they meet the definition as provided in the Companies
Ordinance, 1984.

2.18 Impairment

The carrying amount of the Company's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the assets are written down to their estimated recoverable amount
and impairment losses are recognized in the net profit and loss account. Consequently,
the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future period to allocate asset's revised
carrying amount over its estimated useful life.

2.19 Change in Accounting Policies

There have been no change in accounting policies except for those stated in notes
2.8, 2.9 and 2.10.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Rupees Rupees 

3 SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Authorised capital

1,500,000,000 (2005: 300,000,000)
ordinary and preference shares of Rs. 10/– each 15,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

The Company introduced a new class of ordinary shares (non–voting) having no right to
receive notice of, attend, or vote at any general meeting except as otherwise provided in
the Ordinance, by passing a special resolution in extra ordinary general meeting held on
May 12, 2006. Authorized capital of the Company is Rs. 15,000,000,000 divided into
900,000,000 (2005: 153,000,000) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 300,000,000 (2005:
60,000,000)  ordinary shares (non–voting) of Rs.10 each and 300,000,000 (2005 : 87,000,000)
preference shares of Rs.10 each.

3.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital:

2006 2005 2006 2005
Numbers Note Rupees Rupees

249,621,992 23,777,369 Ordinary shares of Rs.10/– each
fully paid in cash 2,496,219,920 237,773,690

12,276,073 12,276,073 Issued as consideration for machinery 122,760,730 122,760,730
50,811,992 50,811,992 Issued as consideration for merger 508,119,920 508,119,920

312,710,057 86,865,434 3.3 3,127,100,570 868,654,340

66,173,833 86,865,434 Preference shares of Rs. 10/– each 3.4 661,738,330 868,654,340
fully paid in cash

378,883,890 173,730,868 3,788,838,900 1,737,308,680

3.3 Movement during the year

2006 2005 2006 2005
Numbers Rupees Rupees

– Ordinary Shares

86,865,434 86,865,434 As at 01 January, 868,654,340 868,654,340
Conversion of preference shares to
ordinary shares in the ratio of 6.8 ordinary

14,070,288 –       shares for 10 preference shares held 140,702,880 –        
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each issued
during the year as right shares in the ratio
of 21 shares for every 10 shares held,

211,774,335 –        fully paid in cash 2,117,743,350 –        

312,710,057 86,865,434 3,127,100,570 868,654,340

3.4 Preference shares

86,865,434 86,865,434 As at 01 January, 868,654,340 868,654,340
Conversion of preference shares to 
ordinary shares in the ratio of 6.8 ordinary

(20,691,601) –       shares for 10 preference shares held (206,916,010) –        

66,173,833 86,865,434 661,738,330 868,654,340

The Company issued cumulative preference shares during the year ended 30 September, 2004. These
are non–voting, non–participatory, partly convertible and are redeemable in 6 years from the date of
issuance. These are listed on Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The terms and conditions
of issue are as follows:
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Rate of dividend
Annualised fixed dividend @ 8.95% per annum to be paid.
In case of default in payment of dividend:
Default in payment during first year and paid Rate of dividend will be 9.75 % for first year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 1.87 per share including 8.95% for

second year.
Default in payment during second year and paid Rate of dividend will be 20.73 % for second year, total
regularly during subsequent years. dividend for the year will be Rs. 2.93 per share including

8.95% for third year.
Default in payment during third year and paid Rate of dividend will be 31.95 % for third year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 4.09 per share including 8.95% for

fourth year.
Default in payment during fourth year and paid Rate of dividend will be 44.56 % for fourth year, total
regularly during subsequent years. dividend for the year will be Rs. 5.35 per share including

8.95% for fifth year.
Default in payment during fifth year and paid Rate of dividend will be 58.30 % for fifth year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 6.73 per share including 8.95% for

sixth year.
At the end of year six, if the Company fails to pay dividend and/or redeem the principal in
the manner mentioned below, the entire amount of the accrued dividend plus the face value
of the outstanding preference share will be converted, at the option of preference
shareholder, into ordinary shares at break-up value of the Company to be determined at
that time.

Redemption option and timing

Redemption will be allowed as follows subject to the provisions of Section 85 of the
Companies Ordinance, 1984, as follows:
     50% of the issued amount at the end of fifth (5th) year of issuance/allotment;
     50% of the issued amount at the end of sixth (6th) year of issuance/allotment;

Conversion/ Swap

The preference shareholders may at their option convert up to 25% of the value of their
respective preference shares into ordinary shares between eighteen and forty two months
from the issue/ allotment at the conversion ratio of ten preference shares for 6.8 ordinary
shares. Preference share-holders exercising their right of conversion will not receive any
of remaining fixed coupon amounts on the converted amount.

Redemption reserve

The Company will create a redemption reserves of at least up to the amount of redemption
of preference shares i.e. at least up to the amount of outstanding preference shares
submitted for redemption by:

– Allocating Rs.150 million of the reserves as at 30th September, 2004;

– Appropriating profits of at least Rs 50 million each subsequent year to build up
redemption reserve;

– Creating additional reserves to match the amount required for redemption.

Preference shares have been classified as part of equity capital in accordance with the
terms and conditions of issue, taking into consideration the implied classification of share
capital as inherent in the various provisions of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Further
the contradictions between implied classification of share capital inherent in the various
provisions of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and IFRSs are pending clarification and
resolution with Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

4 RESERVES

Capital Reserves
Share premium on ordinary shares 4.1 2,633,371,139 71,657,838
Preference shares redemption reserve 313,500,000 212,500,000
Reserve on merger 105,152,005 105,152,005

3,052,023,144 389,309,843
Surplus on revaluation of investments 2,580,401 562,710
Hedging reserve 4.2

At the beginning of the year 13,458,916 –        
Increase in the fair value of cash flow
     hedging derivatives 510,199,721 13,458,916

523,658,637 13,458,916

3,578,262,182 403,331,469

4.1 Share premium on ordinary shares
At the beginning of the year 71,657,838 106,433,368
Premium on right issue at the rate of
     Rs.11.95 per share 2,530,703,303 –       
Premium on right conversion of
     preference shares at the rate of
     Rs.3.20 per share 66,213,130 –       

2,668,574,271 106,433,368
Expenses incurred on issue of
     company's securities 35,203,132 34,775,530

2,633,371,139 71,657,838

4.2 Hedging reserve

The company during the current and previous financial period has entered into
local and foreign currency interest rate swap contracts to hedge the possible
adverse movements in interest rates and exchange rates. As the hedging relationship
is effective and meets the criteria of cash flow hedge, this arrangement qualifies
for hedge accounting as per specification of IAS–39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.

 
The increase in fair value of interest rate swap contracts has been recognised in
the statement of changes in equity as hedging reserve. Break–up of fair values of
swap contracts as at 31 December, 2006 is as follows:

Finance obtained from Swapped with
Privately Placed TFCs Citi Bank N.A 6.1 (621,936)
Citi Bank N.A Standard Chartered Bank 7.3 (1,128,096)
Citi Bank N.A Citi Bank N.A 7.3 (722,198)
Citi Bank N.A Citi Bank N.A 11.2 (29,549,376)

(32,021,606)

Privately Placed TFCs Standard Chartered Bank 6.1 11,998,746
Term Finance Certificates ABN Amro 6.2 308,757,130
United Bank Limited Standard Chartered Bank 7.2 4,400,130
National Bank of Pakistan Citi Bank N.A 7.5 138,900,571
Deutsche Investitions

       –Und MBH Citi Bank N.A 7.6 91,623,667 

555,680,244 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

5 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF
PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Opening balance 278,943,671 306,564,511
Surplus transferred to unappropriated
profit relating to:
– Current year depreciation 17,583,248 27,392,552
– Disposal of revalued fixed assets 3,999,556 228,288

21,582,804 27,620,840

257,360,867 278,943,671

The Company revalued land, building and plant & machinery during 1999 and 2002 which
produced revaluation surplus of Rs. 253.29 million and Rs. 160.83 million respectively.
The total surplus of Rs. 414.123 million had been added to the book value of the assets
and the corresponding amount had been credited to the surplus on revaluation of fixed
assets. These assets have been revalued by an independent valuer M/s. Blue Feathers
Affiliations. These assets were revalued on the basis of present replacement depreciated
values.

6 REDEEMABLE CAPITAL

Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) - I 6.1 187,500,000 250,000,000
Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) - II 6.2 2,142,812,532 2,143,670,000

2,330,312,532 2,393,670,000
Current maturity grouped under

current liabilities 63,357,468 63,357,468

2,266,955,064 2,330,312,532

6.1 TFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of institutional
investors. The total issue comprises of 250 TFCs having face value of Rs. 100,000
and 45,000 TFCs having face value of Rs. 5,000.

Terms of repayment

Call option/ Partial call option

The Company may redeem the TFCs by way of exercise of the call/partial call option
by giving written notice to the TFC holders and the trustee of not less than ninety
days. In case of exercise of call/partial call option within thirty months from the
issue date, the Company is liable to pay premium @ 0.1% of the call/partial redemption
amount.

Rate of return

The return on TFCs is payable semi annually. This is calculated at six months KIBOR
prevailing two days prior to the issue date and subsequently two days prior to
start of each semi annual period in respect of which profit payment due at the end
of that period plus margin of 1.75%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of TFC holders, NIB Bank Limited has been
appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 2nd August, 2004.

In case the Company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may enforce
the Company's obligations in accordance with the terms of trust deed. The proceeds
of any such enforcements shall be distributed to the TFC holders at that time on
pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them in pursuant to the
TFCs.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets excluding immovable property and mortgage of immovable properties.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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6.2 These have been issued by way of private placement and public subscription and are
listed on the Karachi Stock Exchange. Total issue comprises of 428,734 certificates
of Rs. 5,000 each.

Terms of repayment

The principal redemption of TFCs are structured to be in ten unequal semi-annual
installment starting from March 2008.

Profit rate and payment

6 month KIBOR plus 240 basis points, without any floor or cap and is payable semi-
annually in arrears.

Conversion option

TFC holders will have the right of conversion of 25 % of the value into ordinary
(non-voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 30 % discount
to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary shares prevailing
at the time of conversion, at any time between January 01, 2008 to March 31,
2008 after giving 30 days advance notice to the issuer and trustee. Incase of
existent established market for the Company’s ordinary (non voting) shares at the
time of conversion, TFC holders will have the right for conversion into ordinary
(non voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 15 % discount
to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary share (non-voting).
Security

First pari passu charge on the present and future fixed assets of the company
(excluding land and building) with 25 % margin in favor of the trustee.

Trustee

In order to safe-guard the interest of the TFC holders, First Dawood Investment
Bank Ltd. has been appointed to as Trustee for the issue.

In case the company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may enforce the
company’s obligation in accordance with the terms of the trust deed. The proceed
of any such enforcement shall be distributed to the TFC holders at the time on a
pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them pursuant to the TFCs,
subject to the priority rights of all other creditors and depositors of the Company.

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

7 LONG TERM FINANCING – Secured

Habib Bank Limited (HBL) 7.1 200,000,000 250,000,000
United Bank Limited (UBL) 7.2 200,000,000 200,000,000
Citi Bank N.A
– Finance 1 7.3 133,333,334 200,000,000
– Finance 2 7.4 600,000,000 –       
National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) 7.5 1,500,000,000 –       
Deutsche Investitions–Und MBH 7.6 1,207,350,000 –       
Faysal Bank Limited (FBL) 7.7 17,446,722 –       

3,858,130,056 650,000,000
Current maturity grouped under
current liabilities 338,913,068 302,080,000

3,519,216,988 347,920,000

7.1 The Company obtained this finance from consortium of banks lead by HBL which is
repayable in 10 equal half yearly installments commencing from December, 2003.
The finance carries mark-up based on 6 months offer rate of KIBOR plus 280 bps
with no floor no cap. It is secured by way of first pari passu charge on the project
through equitable mortgage on land and building and hypothecation of plant and
machinery.

The loan includes share of Saudi Pak Commercial Bank of Rs. 20 million. In December
2006, share of Saudi Pak Commercial Bank has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP
scheme. The loan now carries mark-up of 7%.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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7.2 The facility carries mark-up at the rate of KIBOR at the beginning of each calendar
quarter plus 1.75%. The facility is repayable in 8 equal semi annual installments
commencing from December 2005 with mark-up being payable on quarterly basis
commencing September 2005. The facility is secured against 1st pari passu charge
on fixed assets and demand promissory notes.

This facility has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP scheme in December 2006. The
facility now carries mark up rate of 7%.

7.3 The facility carries mark-up at the rate of 8% per annum and is repayable in 6 equal
half yearly installments commencing from February 2006. The facility is secured
by way of hypothecation and/or hypothecation over the present and future fixed
assets of the Company and demand promissory notes.

This facility has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP scheme in February 2007. The
facility now carries mark up rate of 6%.

7.4 The facility carries mark-up based on 6 months KIBOR plus 3.25% with no floor
no cap. This facility is repayable in 16 equal quarterly installments commencing
October, 2007. It is secured by way of first pari passu charge over all present
and future fixed assets, investments of the company, mortgage over land and
building and pledge of securities.

This facility has been swapped with Citibank Bahrain for $ 10,000,000 in February
2007. The facility now carries mark up of 6 months LIBOR plus 4%.

7.5 The facility carries mark-up based on 6 months KIBOR plus 3.25% and is repayable
in 12 equal half yearly installments commencing January, 2008 with mark-up being
payable on half yearly basis commencing January, 2007. It is secured by way of
first charge over the hypothecated fixed assets, ranking charge over the hypothecated
current assets of the company, mortgage over land and building, pledge of securities

Company has entered into cross currency swap agreement with Citibank NA. As per
swap agreement liability has been converted into US dollars and company is liable
to pay mark-up based on LIBOR plus 4.75%.

7.6 The Company during the previous year entered into a financing agreement to the
tune of Euro 15 million with Deutsche Investitions-Und MBH a financial institution
incorporated under the laws of Germany. Funds have been used to finance the
installation of new spinning, denim and garment projects. The facility carries
interest at six months EURIBOR plus 3.25% per annum and is repayable in 10 equal
half yearly installments commencing August 15, 2008. This loan is secured by first
pari passu charge over land, buildings and all movable assets, and promissory
note.

Company has entered into cross currency swap agreement with Citibank NA. As per
swap agreement liability has been converted into Swiss franc and company is liable
to pay mark-up based on CHF LIBOR plus 3.55%.

7.7 The Company obtained this finance from FBL under State Bank of Pakistan's LTF-
EOP scheme as a conversion of lease finances into LTF. This facility carries mark-
up at the rate of 6% per annum payable on quarterly basis. This finance is repayable
on quarterly basis in seven unequal installments commencing March, 2007.

7.8 In order to protect itself from adverse interest rate movements, in respect of
above financing, the company has entered into Interest rate swap agreements,
Currency swap agreements and Foreign Exchange Options with various banks.

Out of total outstanding redeemable capital and loans, Rs. 5,600 million has been
hedged using abovementioned derivatives.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

8 LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS
SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE - Secured

Gross minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 53,918,509 81,542,809
Later than one year but not later
than five years 10,903,125 48,714,073

64,821,634 130,256,882
Less: Financial charges allocated

to future periods 3,457,477 10,097,006

61,364,157 120,159,876
Less: Security deposits adjustable on

expiry of lease terms 3,964,950 11,642,598

57,399,207 108,517,278
Less: Current maturity grouped under

current liabilities 47,776,589 68,343,306

9,622,618 40,173,972
Present value of minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 47,776,589 68,343,306
Later than one year but not later than five years 9,622,618 40,173,972

57,399,207 108,517,278

The Company has acquired plant and machinery and vehicles from various Leasing Companies.
Rentals are payable in monthly/quarterly installments upto September, 2010. The discount
factors applied range between 5.50% to 13.46% per annum. The Company intends to
exercise its option to purchase the leased assets upon payment of liability over the lease
term and surrender of deposit at the end of lease term. Taxes, repairs and insurance
costs are to be borne by lessee. In case of termination of the agreement, the lessee is
to pay the entire rent of un-expired period. These are secured against demand promissory
notes.

During the year an amount of Rs.17,446,222 has been converted into long term finance
as detailed in note 7.7.

9 LONG TERM DEPOSITS - Unsecured

This includes deposits received from customers and retention money payable to contractors
due after twelve months.

10 CURRENT PORTION OF LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Redeemable capital 6 63,357,468 63,357,468
Long term financing 7 338,913,068 302,080,000
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 8 47,776,589 68,343,306

450,047,125 433,780,774

11 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

Secured

Short term privately placed term finance certificates 11.1 2,500,000,000 –           
Short term finances 11.2 2,523,729,661 2,395,697,717
Short term running finances 11.3 912,969,656 702,820,703

5,936,699,317 3,098,518,420
Unsecured

Temporary overdraft 11.4 69,418,313 43,883,904

6,006,117,630 3,142,402,324
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11.1 TFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of institutional
investors. The total issue comprises of 500,000 TFCs having face vale of Rs. 5,000
each.

Terms of repayment

Call option

The Company may redeem the TFCs by way of exercise of the call option by giving
written notice to the TFC holders and the trustee of not less than one day.

Rate of return

The return on TFCs is payable on quarterly basis. This is calculated at six months
KIBOR prevailing on the issue date and subsequently on the first business day at
the beginning of every alternate quarter in respect of which profit payment is due
on the two subsequent redemption dates plus margin of 3.00%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of TFC holders, Jahangir Siddiqui Investment
Bank Limited has been appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 5th July,
2006.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets excluding immovable property and mortgage of immovable properties.

11.2 These represent short-term financing facilities available from various banks
amounting to Rs.4,260.00 million (2005: Rs.4,380.29 million) including US $ 27.84
million (2005: US $ 15.83 million). These facilities carry mark-up at the rates
ranging between Re.0.14 to Re.0.39 per Rs. 1,000 per day.

L/C limits available for opening letters of credit/guarantee aggregate Rs.1,646.00
million (2005: Rs.2,369.48 million) of which the amount remaining un-utilized at
the year end was Rs.851.39 million (2005: Rs.1,586.81 million).

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets,
hypothecation of stocks of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods,
pledge of raw materials, goods imported through banks, export bills drawn under
confirmed L/C's or contracts and lien on documents of the title of goods.

These include foreign currency liability of US $ 6.13 million (2005: US $ 4.13
million) which have been converted into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate prevailing
on the balance sheet date i.e. US $1 = Rs.60.98 (2005: U.S.$ 1= Rs.59.93).

The facilities are generally available for a period of twelve months and are
renewable on expiry, however, purchase prices are repayable on various dates,
latest by December 31, 2006.

11.3 Short term running finance facilities available from various banks under mark up
arrangements amount to Rs.1,065.50 million (2005:Rs. 912.50 Million). These
facilities carries mark-up at the rates ranging between Re.0.26 to Re.0.39 per Rs.
1,000 per day.

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets,
hypothecation of stocks of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods,
pledge of raw materials.

11.4 It represents cheques issued by the Company in excess of balance at banks which
have been presented for payment in the subsequent period.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

12 CREDITORS, ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Creditors 12.1 349,275,492 104,837,013
Payable to a Subsidiary Company 213,380,444 –       
Bills payable – Secured 195,065,104 394,601,913
Accrued liabilities 113,135,650 76,380,977
Workers' Welfare Fund 20,000 20,000
Advances from customers 30,905,697 15,045,683
Mark–up accrued on:
Long term finances including TFCs 222,520,303 96,071,732
Short term borrowings 73,858,235 58,717,720
Lease finance charges 863,999 1,414,929
Worker's Profit Participation Fund 12.2 7,768,786 24,509,700
Tax deducted at source 22,143,171 15,470,450
Other liabilities 14,651,186 4,571,055

1,243,588,067 791,641,172

12.1 This includes Rs.130 million payable against purchase of garment unit.

12.2 Workers' Profit Participation Fund

Opening balance 24,509,700 20,803,281
Add: Interest on funds utilized by the Company 1,014,852 326,582

25,524,552 21,129,863

Less: Payments made during the year 25,508,932 21,127,936
Deposited in government treasury –        1,927

25,508,932 21,129,863

15,620 –       
Add: Contribution for the year 7,753,166 24,509,700

7,768,786 24,509,700
13 PROVISION FOR TAXATION

13.1 Current
Opening balance 79,679,935 64,824,871
Add: Provision made during the year

– Current year 115,569,082 47,843,698
– Prior years –        2,999,573

115,569,082 50,843,271

195,249,017 115,668,142
Less: Adjusted against completed assessments –         35,988,207

195,249,017 79,679,935
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13.2 Current status of pending tax assessments

13.2.1Income tax assessments of Azgard Nine Limited have been completed up to the
assessment year 2002-03. Central Board of revenue has selected tax years 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006 for detailed audit. The Company's appeals for assessment years
1996-1997, 1998-1999, 1999-2000, 2000-2001 & 2001-2002 before the Lahore
High Court are pending for adjudication and assessment year 2002-03 is pending
before CIT appeals.

13.2.2The Company has filed appeals pertaining to cases of Nafees Cotton Mills (now
merged into the Company) before the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal for the
assessment years 1999-2000, 2000-2001, 2001-2002, 2002-2003 which are
pending for adjudication. The Company has also filed appeal before the Commissioner
of Income Tax (Appeals) for the Tax Year 2003, which is pending for adjudication.

13.2.3Provision for current year's taxation represents tax payable under section 154
of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001(the Ordinance), keeping in view the provisions
of Circular No.5 of 2000 read with rule 216 of Income Tax Rules 1982 for export
sales and section 5 of the Ordinance.

13.3 Deferred Tax

The export sales (including indirect exports) during the year ending December 31,
2006 achieved the threshold of presumptive tax and the trend is expected to
continue in foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provision for deferred tax has
been made.

13.4 Since the Company's profits are subject to taxation under presumptive tax regime,
no numerical reconciliation of the tax rate has been given.

14 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

CONTINGENCIES

14.1 The Company was denied exemption by the customs department under SRO 484(I)/92
from levy of customs duty and sales tax on certain plant and machinery. The
Company filed an appeal in the High Court, which was decided in its favour. The
department has filed an appeal against the same in the supreme court. In case of
adverse decision the maximum liability is likely to rise to Rs.9.40 million approximately.
No provision has been made in these accounts since the Company expects a favorable
outcome.

14.2 The Company imported textile machinery availing exemption from customs duty and
sales tax on importation thereof under various SROs. The claim subject to
fulfillment of certain conditions aggregates Rs.45.739 million (2005: Rs. 68.156
million).

14.3 Refer to contents of note 3.4 relating to dividends payable on preference shares.

COMMITMENTS

14.4 Counter guarantees given by the Company to its bankers outstanding as at 31
December, 2006 were for Rs.80 million (2005: Rs. 24 million).

14.5 Commitments against irrevocable letters of credit outstanding for purchase of
raw materials as at 31st December, 2006 amounting to Rs.193.94 million
(2005:Rs.126.89 million).
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Cost / Revaluation Depreciation           Net Book
Particulars As at Additions Leased As at Rate As at For On As at Value as at

01 January, during the assets Disposals 31 December, % 01 January, the disposals/ 31 December, 31 December,
2006 period transfers 2006 2006 period transfers 2006 2006

Owned:
Freehold land
– Cost 361,012,241 148,184,868 –        –        509,197,109 –  –       –       –       –       509,197,109
– Revaluation 8,442,352 –         –        –        8,442,352 –  –       –       –       –       8,442,352

369,454,593 148,184,868 –        –        517,639,461 –  –       –       –       –       517,639,461
Buildings on 
freehold land
– Cost 390,221,160 1,124,124,020 –        –        1,514,345,180 5.0 107,563,909 21,693,677 –       129,257,586 1,385,087,594
– Revaluation 19,455,864 –         –        –        19,455,864 5.0 3,405,916 806,017 –       4,211,933 15,243,931

409,677,024 1,124,124,020 –        –        1,533,801,044 110,969,825 22,499,694 –       133,469,519 1,400,331,525
Plant and machinery
– Cost 2,828,182,043 3,338,783,614 42,900,000 22,890,903 6,186,974,754 7.5 953,326,027 175,116,227 (8,160,780) 1,132,070,118 5,054,904,636

  –        11,788,644  
– Revaluation 385,911,486 –         –        5,983,667 379,927,819 7.5 131,460,115 16,777,231 (1,984,111) 146,253,235 233,674,584

3,214,093,529 3,338,783,614 42,900,000 28,874,570 6,566,902,573 1,084,786,142 191,893,458 1,643,753 1,278,323,353 5,288,579,220

Furniture and fittings 22,941,284 25,142,154 –        818,492 47,264,946 10.0 7,762,861 2,087,659 (592,308) 9,258,212 38,006,734
Vehicles 24,489,840 4,115,565 2,550,000 2,577,167 28,578,238 20.0 17,174,971 1,605,281 (1,485,420) 18,916,427 9,661,811

1,621,595 
Tools and equipment 12,200,839 52,865,647 –        –        65,066,486 10.0 4,526,529 2,118,642 –       6,645,171 58,421,315
Office equipments 71,307,284 19,495,901 –        –        90,803,185 10.0 17,847,966 6,298,433 –       24,146,399 66,656,786
Electrical installations 75,389,307 38,762,454 –        –        114,151,761 10.0 24,677,625 5,835,789 –       30,513,414 83,638,347

–

4,199,553,700 4,751,474,223 45,450,000 32,270,229 8,964,207,694 1,267,745,919 232,338,956 1,187,620 1,501,272,495 7,462,935,199
Leased:
Plant and machinery 219,765,143 –         (42,900,000) –        176,865,143 7.5 44,662,531 11,833,881 (11,788,644) 44,707,768 132,157,375
Vehicles 12,351,499 3,088,960 (2,550,000) –        12,890,459 20.0 6,218,860 1,489,902 (1,621,595) 6,087,167 6,803,292

232,116,642 3,088,960 (45,450,000) –        189,755,602 50,881,391 13,323,783 (13,410,239) 50,794,935 138,960,667

2006 Rupees 4,431,670,342 4,754,563,183 –        32,270,229 9,153,963,296   1,318,627,310 245,662,739 (12,222,619) 1,552,067,430 7,601,895,866

2005 Rupees 3,913,800,722 541,451,599 –        23,581,979 4,431,670,342   1,065,864,321 264,030,365 (11,267,376) 1,318,627,310 3,113,043,032

15.1 Land, building and plant and machinery have been revalued in 2002 by an independent valuer M/s. Blue Feathers Affiliations. These assets were revalued on the basis of present replacement
depreciated values.

15.2 The method for charge of depreciation has been changed from full year depreciation on additions during the year and no depreciation on disposals during the year, with the exception of major
additions or extensions to production facilities, effected by capitalization, out of capital work in progress are depreciated on a pro rata basis, to depreciation on additions is charged from the
month in which property, plant and equipment is available for use while no depreciation is charged for the month in which property, plant and equipment is disposed off. There is no material impact
due to change in accounting estimate.

15. OPERATING FIXED ASSETS

15.3 Disposal of operating fixed assets.

              Particulars Cost Accumulated Book value Sale Gain Mode of  Particulars of purchaser  
  depreciation proceeds disposal    

Vehicles
Suzuki Baleno 675,667 376,662 299,005 414,000 114,995 Negotiation Mr. Irfan Khurshid
Toyota Corolla  699,000 627,758 71,242 510,000 438,758 Negotiation Mr. Mati ur Rehman
Toyota Corolla  1,202,500 481,000 721,500 800,000 78,500 Negotiation Dr. Masood Iqbal Sajid

2,577,167 1,485,420 1,091,747 1,724,000 632,253

Machinery 
Single Needle stitch Machine 5,241,794 2,416,745 2,825,049  
Single Needle stitch Machine  1,602,573 716,356 886,217  
Double Needle stitch Machine  7,997,672 3,552,611 4,445,061  
Single Needle stitch Machine  748,852 342,563 406,289  
Waste Bend Machine  549,150 178,777 370,373  
Cover stitch Machine 195,989 63,803 132,186  
Bottom Hem Machine 66,581 18,826 47,755  
Single Needle stitch Machine 212,175 47,653 164,522  
Safety Over Lock Machine 535,822 277,229 258,594  
Mock Stitch Machine 93,453 40,402 53,051  
Bartak Machine 1,447,913 625,302 822,611  
Single Needle stitch Machine 228,000 36,872 191,128  
Feedo Arm 952,573 154,048 798,524  

19,872,547 8,471,187 11,401,360 11,474,500 73,140 Negotiation M. Ashraf & Co.

Washing Machine  195,000 43,795 151,205  
Hydro Extractor  500,000 112,295 387,705  
Hydro Extractor  475,000 106,680 368,320  

  1,170,000 262,770 907,230 203,896 (703,334)  Negotiation Master Khalil

Draw Frames - 3  3,916,012 695,402 3,220,609 1,800,000 (1,420,609)  Negotiation Shadman Cotton Mills, Lahore
Card Machines - 8   
     (Hergth Shoot Feed)  3,916,012 715,531 3,200,481 4,680,000 1,479,519 Negotiation Shoaib Salman Textile Mills, Lahore

28,874,570 10,144,891 18,729,680 18,158,396 (571,284)

Furniture
Chairs, tables and racks 818,492 592,308 226,183 117,000 (109,184) Negotiation Mr. Shahzada Samuel

Rupees 32,270,229 12,222,619 20,047,610 19,999,396 (48,215)

15.4 Depreciation for the period has been apportioned as under: 2006 2005
Rupees Rupees 

Cost of sales 238,492,943 253,998,842
Administrative and selling expenses 7,169,796 10,031,523 

245,662,739 264,030,365 
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

16 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Civil Work 112,534,012 468,326,483
Plant and machinery 38,116,465 1,975,292,610
Electric Installations –        15,920,713
Office equipment fitting and others –        116,100

150,650,477 2,459,655,906

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development costs 17.1 47,948,625 64,221,974
ERP – Oracle financial 17.2 12,596,184 9,715,302

60,544,809 73,937,276

17.1 This relates to expenditure on development of new products to gain competitive
advantage in the national and international market. The management plans to
continue this policy and increase research and development spending in the times
to come.

Cost 81,187,908 81,187,908
Amortisation
As on 01 January, / 01 October, 16,965,934  
For the year / period 16,273,349 16,965,934

As on 31 December, 33,239,283 16,965,934

47,948,625 64,221,974

17.2 This represents cost relating to implementation of oracle financial, which is under
process as at balance sheet date.

18 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

18.1 Related parties

Investment in foreign subsidiary
Nafees International Tekstil Sanays ve
Ticaret ANONIM SIRKET 
10 billion fully paid ordinary shares of
Turkish Lira 1 million each
Equity held 51%
Cost 1,650,720 1,650,720
Appreciation in value of investment 201,735 –      

Fair value (2005: Cost) 1,852,455 1,650,720
Investment in Local subsidiaries 
Azsoft (Pvt.) Ltd.
19,980 fully paid ordinary shares of
Rs.100/– each
Equity held 99.90%
Cost 1,998,000 1,998,000
Appreciation in value of investment 55,916 –      

Fair value (2005: Cost) 2,053,916 1,998,000
Pak American Fertilizers Limited (PAFL)
39,243,000 fully paid ordinary shares of 
Rs.100/– each
Equity held 100% 18.3
Cost 7,986,113,366 –      
Appreciation in value of investment 1,735,602 –      

Fair value 7,987,848,968 –      
Held for sale portion classified   
under short term investments 18.5 (3,700,814,821) –      

4,287,034,147 –      
2,100 fully paid privately placed
term finance
certificates of Rs.1,000,000/– each 18.6 2,100,000,000 –      
Current maturity grouped under
current assets

(87,500,700) –      

2,012,499,300 –      
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

18.2 Others 

Available for sale

Quoted

Colony Textile Mills Ltd.

4,332 (2005:456) ordinary shares including 8,664 8,664
3,876 bonus shares of Rs.10 each   
Appreciation in value of investment 29,024 2,736

Market value Rs.8.70 per share (2005: Rs.25.00) 37,688 11,400

BSJS Balanced Fund Ltd.

1,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each.   10,000 10,000
Appreciation in value of investment 1,400 3,250

Market value Rs.11.40 per share (2005: Rs.13.25) 11,400 13,250

Unquoted   

National Security Insurance Co. Ltd.
221,504 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 996,768 996,768
Provision for impairment (996,768) –        

–         996,768

6,303,488,906 4,670,138

18.3 Movement in the invetsment of PAFL
shares as follows: Shares

Acquired thorugh privatisation process
on 15 th July, 2006 30,000,000 –        
Sold to Dominion Fertilizers (Pvt.) Limted (DFL) (20,757,000) –        
New shares issued on merger of DFL with PAFL 20,000,000 –        
Right shares issued by PAFL 10,000,000 –        

39,243,000 –        

18.4 Due to supplementary agreement the shares sold to DFL on merger of DFL into
PAFL were reverted back to ANL.

18.5 A portion of investment in Pak–American Fertilizers Limited has been classified as
short term investment based on management's intention to sell it if required to
meet liquidity needs.

18.6 These are pledged as security against finance facilities available to the company.

19 LONG TERM DEPOSITS

Opening balance 29,745,135 18,517,830
Costs incurred during the year 230,922 11,227,305
Refund received (10,069,300) –       

19,906,757 29,745,135

19.1 These include security deposits for electricity Rs. 5,327,400 and with Sui Northern
Gas Pipe Lines Ltd. Rs.5,235,500 (2005: Rs.15,265,300).

20 STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS

Store 65,423,804 60,280,813
Spares 34,857,431 27,069,375
Loose tools 1,481,251 440,167

101,762,486 87,790,355
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20.1 Included in stores and spares are items in transit valuing Rs.3.273 million (2005:
Rs.0.662 million).

20.2 The Company does not hold any stores and spares for specific capitalization.

20.3 The value of slow moving stores and spares is not material and hence no provision
is made in these financial statements.

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

21 STOCK IN TRADE

Raw materials 1,302,466,823 1,507,912,595
Work in process 342,640,598 227,469,465
Work in process – trial run –        10,272,756
Finished goods 377,280,784 264,903,136
Finished goods – trial run –        23,446,575
Waste 122,719 176,023

2,022,510,924 2,034,180,550

21.1 Included in raw materials are stocks in transit valuing Rs.14.967 million
(2005:Rs.62.030 million) and stocks in Customs Bond Nil (2005:Rs.7.293 million).

21.2 Stocks amounting to Rs.1,033 million (2005: Rs.1,044.249 million) have been
pledged as security with various banks against financing facilities.

22 TRADE DEBTS

Considered good:
Secured 22.1 612,532,020 498,892,591
Un–secured 522,365,129 514,990,993
Considered doubtful 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,139,146,497 1,018,132,932
Less: Provision for doubtful debts 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,134,897,149 1,013,883,584

22.1 These are secured by letter of credit and include receivable from Nafees International
Tekstil Snayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi amounting to Rs.79,125,215 (2005:
Rs.75,889,879).  

23 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Advances – Unsecured considered good
To employees 23.1 & 23.2 33,022,422 31,059,330
To suppliers, contractors and others 266,838,558 407,631,218
Security deposits 7,523,215 3,115,165
Margin deposits 23.3 8,053,085 2,297,956
Prepayments 7,720,379 9,144,119
Export rebate receivable 43,340,387 56,947,188
Accrued mark–up on privately placed term
     finance certificates 104,725,479 –       
Sales tax recoverable 106,264,996 81,783,885
Letters of credit 74,673,154 175,710,254
Tax deducted at source / tax refundable 198,591,085 107,676,585
Insurance claim 4,107,165 14,462,187
Other receivables – unsecured, considered good 2,884,379 5,979,992

857,744,304 895,807,879

23.1 Advances to employees are against purchase and other expenses on Company's
behalf.

23.2 No advances have been given to chief executive / directors during the year.

23.3 It represents deposits against letters of credit and other working capital utilized.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

24 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Held for trading
Quoted

Bank of Punjab
13,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          1,358,399

Diminution in value of investment –          (26,549)
Market value Rs.102.45 per share

–          1,331,850
National Bank of Pakistan
160,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          32,242,667

Diminution in value of investment –          (310,722)
Market value Rs.199.45 per share

–          31,931,945
Muslim Commercial Bank Ltd.
30,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          5,428,051

Diminution in value of investment –          (394,051)
Market value Rs.167.80 per share

–          5,034,000
ABAMCO Capital Fund
4,897,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          39,910,550

Appreciation in value of investment –          26,198,950
Market value Rs.13.50 per share

–          66,109,500
Askari Commercial Bank Limited
189,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          24,089,087

Diminution in value of investment –          (60,487)
Market value Rs.126.80 per share

–          24,028,600
Fauji Fertilizers Ltd.
65,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          8,260,593

Appreciation in value of investment –          658,107
Market value Rs.137.00 per share

–          8,918,700
Attock Refinery Limited
46,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          8,054,170

Appreciation in value of investment –          1,513,830
Market value Rs.208.00 per share

–          9,568,000
Faysal Bank Ltd
183,800 ordinary share of Rs.10 each –          35,425,806

Appreciation in value of investment –          4,627,097
Market value Rs.217.92 per share

–          40,052,903
Adamjee Insurance Co. Ltd.
765,700 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          22,375,803

Appreciation in value of investment –          2,804,797
Market value Rs 32.88 per share

–          25,180,600
Lucky Cement
20,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          1,584,958

Appreciation in value of investment –          93,042
Market value Rs.83.90 per share 

–          1,678,000
Pakistan State Oil Company Ltd.
6,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          2,761,576

Diminution in value of investment –          (52,051)
Market value Rs.416.85 per share

–          2,709,525

Balance carried forward –          216,543,623
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

Balance brought forward –         216,543,623

Pakistan Industrial Credit and Investment Corporation
4,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –         271,724

Diminution in value of investment –         (12,524)
Market value Rs.64.80 per share

–         259,200
Held for sale 24.1

Chanda Oil & Gas Securitization Co. Ltd
12,895 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         61,638,100

Naimat Basal Oil
3,913 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         18,275,160

Telecard Limited – TFC
3,715 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         18,571,285

Pak–American Fertilizers Limited
18,181,500 shares of par value of Rs.100 each 18.5 3,700,814,821 –         

Held to maturity
Current portion of investment in privaltely placed
term finance certificates of Pak–American Fertilzers Limited 18 87,500,700 –        

Term Deposit Receipt 24.2 –         454,124,227

3,788,315,521 769,411,595

24.1 These investments were previously classified as long term investments however
these have been reclassified as short term investment after being sold during the
current period and all the information given up relates to year 2005.

24.2 The balance of previous year represent Investment in TDRs of ABN Amro Bank
amounting to US $ 500,000/– for a period of one month at the rate of 2.60% and
in TDRs of NIB Bank amounting Rs.423.943 million for a period of one month at
the rate of 9.00%.

25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 4,902,546 1,497,894
Cash with banks in:
current accounts 573,244,007 34,116,304
saving accounts 2,759,071 10,028,160

576,003,078 44,144,464

580,905,624 45,642,358

25.1 Cash at banks on current and saving accounts include foreign currency balances
of US $ 174,635.08 (2005: US $ 158,205.83) & Euro 5,651,161.86 (2005: Euro
35,396.97) which have been converted into pak rupees at the exchange rate
prevailing on the balance sheet date i.e. US $ 1= Rs.60.78 (2005: US $ 1=Rs.
59.73) and Euro 1 = Rs.80.23 (2005: Euro 1 = Rs.70.71)
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

26 SALES
Local 756,302,505 750,216,920
Export–(including indirect export) – net of
export development surcharge amounting
to Rs.6,018,082 to (2005: Rs.5,730,404)
and exchange gain of Rs.51,671,051
(2005:Rs.14,794,775). 4,128,678,827 3,832,200,523

   
Waste 61,403,398 41,428,012

4,946,384,730 4,623,845,455

Less: Commission to selling agents – Local 19,785,186 34,860,167 
– Export 23,033,477 19,377,300

  Sales tax 991,696 136,731,073
  Brokerage and discounts 12,892,405 10,404,558

56,702,764 201,373,098

4,889,681,966 4,422,472,357

27 COST OF SALES

Raw materials and other direct materials consumed 2,525,051,205 1,820,580,742
Salaries, wages and benefits 27.1 510,904,024 354,746,907
Fuel and power 323,569,253 333,090,255
Store and spares consumed 111,348,583 152,724,507
Traveling, conveyance and entertainment 46,802,918 9,220,631
Rent, rates and taxes 10,172,160 5,141,456
Insurance 18,768,415 8,064,020
Repair and maintenance 36,763,527 22,665,131
Processing charges 29,898,239 22,330,528
Depreciation 15.3 238,492,943 253,998,842
R & D Amortization 16,273,349 16,965,934
Printing & stationery 3,732,388 3,797,218
Communications 2,813,485 1,872,407
Others 22,547,063 17,745,768

3,897,137,552 3,022,944,346
Adjustment of work in process

Opening 227,469,465 220,379,606
Received from trial run operations 10,272,756 –        
Closing (342,640,598) (227,469,465)

(104,898,377) (7,089,859)

Cost of goods manufactured 3,792,239,175 3,015,854,487
Adjustment of finished goods

Opening 265,079,159 538,010,735
Received from trial run operations 23,446,575 –        
Closing (377,403,503) (265,079,159)

(88,877,769) 272,931,576

3,703,361,406 3,288,786,063

27.1 Salaries, wages and benefits includes contributions in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs.11,334,099 (2005: Rs.24,325,377.
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

28 ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 28.1 125,951,704 97,413,171
Traveling and conveyance including
chief executive/directors' traveling of
Rs.3,786,603 (2005:Rs.22,367,701) 65,821,574 54,340,963
Power and fuel 5,135,713 3,303,763
Repair and maintenance 5,835,059 3,581,988
Rent, rates and taxes 3,429,834 760,014
Insurance 2,374,346 1,764,074
Freight and clearing charges 113,662,864 80,684,019
Printing and stationery 3,648,302 3,449,924
Communications 22,178,413 19,112,928
Advertisement and sales promotion 7,543,790 4,501,610
Legal and professional charges 28.2 8,685,373 6,452,585
Depreciation 15.3 7,169,796 10,031,523
Amortization of textile quota –         23,564,403
Fees and subscription 8,032,648 3,441,908
Others 11,820,922 8,220,010

391,290,338 320,622,883

28.1 Salaries, wages and benefits includes contributions in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs.4,897,165 (2005: Rs.2,886,353).

28.2 Legal and professional charges
The charges for professional services include the following
in respect of auditor's services for:
Annual audit fee 200,000 125,000
Half yearly review fee 55,000 35,000
Review report on code of corporate governance 35,000 25,000
Certification and other services 315,000 161,250

605,000 346,250

29 GOVERNMENTS GRANTS

The company during the period has lodged claims amounting for Rs.94,204,206 (2005:
Rs.53,036,367) as research & development rebate which has been treated as government
grant in accordance with IAS–20, "Government Grant" and it has been deducted in reporting
expenses relating to hiring the consultants for adoption of new technologies, innovation
and sales promotion.

30 OTHER INCOME

Financial assets
Gain on sale of investments 58,478,149 199,442,372
Unrealized gain on investments held for trading –          35,039,438
Mark–up on term finance certificates 4,206,768 29,038,697
Dividend Income 1,058,711,503 38,934,462
Miscellaneous 1,205,236 2,992,762

1,122,601,656 305,447,731
31 FINANCE COST

Interest on:
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 1,014,852 326,582

Mark up on:
Long term financing – Secured 307,238,912 93,647,624
Short term borrowings –Secured 302,086,679 176,264,632

Lease finance charges 7,795,623 9,724,293
Guarantee commission and bank charges 37,928,519 28,511,524
Less: Return on bank deposits (7,414,660) (17,966,099)

648,649,925 290,508,556

31.1 Borrowing cost amounting Rs.295 million (2005: Rs.92 million) were capitalised
during the year.
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32 OTHER CHARGES

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 48,215 6,661,778
Donations 32.1 100,000 4,694,172
Impairment loss on long term investment 996,768 –        

1,144,983 11,355,950

32.1 Recipients of donations do not include any donee in whom any director or his / her
spouse has any interest.

33 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,085,289,142 644,112,961

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 218,226,289 86,865,434

Rupees  Rupees

EPS 4.97 7.42
Diluted
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 1,085,289,142 644,112,961
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible TFCs 60,641,595 16,478,929
Preference dividend 623,667 24,295,176

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earning per share 1,146,554,404 684,887,066

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS 218,226,289 86,865,434
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible TFCs 26,389,317 14,767,124
Preference shares 696,835 4,203,110
Weighted average no. of ordinary shares for the
purposes of diluted earning per share 245,312,441 105,835,668

Rupees  Rupees

EPS 4.67 6.47

 34 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVES

The aggregate amount charged in the accounts for remuneration, including all benefits,
to the Chief Executive, Directors and Executives of the Company is as follows:

Chief Executive Directors Executives  
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees
Managerial remuneration

Basic salary 2,400,000 2,400,000 4,046,253 3,625,005 42,150,996 8,869,326
House rent 960,000 960,000 1,618,529 1,450,050 14,397,931 3,570,688
Utilities 240,000 240,000 404,546 362,505 4,413,057 853,851
Food allowance –      –      –      –      121,521 –      
Education allowance –      –      –      –      600 –    
Medical fund –      –      –      –      1,577,654 –    

Retirement benefits 204,000 102,000 204,000 –      3,582,835 697,790
Bonus –      –      –      –      –      185,396

3,804,000 3,702,000 6,273,328 5,437,560 66,244,594 14,177,051

Number of persons 1 1 6 5 40 1 1

34.1 In addition to above the Chief Executive has been provided with free use of the
Company maintained car.

34.2 No fee has been paid to the directors during the year (2005: NIL).
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

Note 31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Rupees Rupees

35 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Subsidiaries:
Sales –         13,180,001
Dividend received 1,052,631,579 –      
Associates:
Underwriting fee 13,864,624 –      
Brokerage –         4,834,233
Mark–up paid –         6,604,158
Purchases 9,033,908 48,617,868
Misc. expenses 3,235,336 731,800

There were no receivables or payables and other transactions to related parties other
than those referred in notes 12, 18.3, 22.1 and 23.2.

36 CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION

Spinning
No. of Rotors installed 1,752 1,290
Plant capacity on the basis of utilization converted into 6.5s count –Kgs. 10,490,946 9,331,418
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production converted into 6.5s count 36.1 –Kgs. 7,938,061 7,566,724
No. of Spindles installed 53,520 40,776
Plant capacity on the basis of utilization converted into 20s count –Kgs. 15,224,439 14,777,085
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production converted into 20s count 36.2 –Kgs. 12,085,687 12,136,950
Weaving
No. of Looms installed 166 102
Annual rated capacity on the basis of utilization – at 38 picks –Mtrs. 23,608,088 21,433,949
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production – at 38 picks –Mtrs. 14,126,437 15,951,677
Garments
No. of Stitching machines installed 1,144 537
Annual capacity on the basis of utilization –Pcs. 7,566,326 4,150,000
(based on 2 shifts per day)
Actual production –Pcs. 3,094,111 2,261,959

36.1 Reduced requirement of open end yarn in the fabric produced during the year
resulted in under utilization of production capacity.

36.2 It is difficult to describe precisely the production capacity in the textile industry
since it fluctuates widely depending on various factors such as count of yarn spun,
spindles speed, twist and raw materials used etc. It also varies according to the
pattern of production adopted in particular period.

37 CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

(Increase) in current assets
Stores, spares and loose tools (13,972,131) (15,181,662)
Stock in trade 11,669,626 (639,451,220)
Trade debts (121,013,565) (68,771,728)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and
other receivables (excluding income tax) 128,978,074 (186,032,094)
(Decrease)/increase in current liabilities
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities
(excluding accrued financial charges) 310,908,740 (28,463,606)

316,570,744 (937,900,310)

The fair values of all other financial instruments are considered to approximate their
book values as they are short term in nature.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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38 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

38.1 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. As
at December 31, 2006 the net fair value of all financial instruments has been
based on the valuation methodology outlined below:

Long-term deposits

Long term deposits does not carry any rate of return. Their fair value of it has
been taken at book value as it is not considered materially different and readily
exchangeable.

Non-current liabilities

For all non-current liabilities the fair values have been taken at book values as
these are not considered materially different based on the current market rates
of return and repricing profiles of similar non-current liabilities.

Other financial instruments

The fair values of all other financial instruments are considered to approximate
their book values as they are short term in nature.

38.2 Financial assets and liabilities

Interest/ Interest / mark–up bearing Non interest / mark–up bearing  

mark–up Maturity Maturity Sub–total Maturity Maturity Sub–total  
rates range upto one after one   upto one after one    

% per year year   year year   Total
annum              

             ( R  U  P  E  E  S )
Financial assets:
Long term investments –        6,303,488,906 6,303,488,906 6,303,488,906
Long term deposits –        19,906,757 19,906,757 19,906,757
Trade debtors –        1,134,897,149 1,134,897,149 1,134,897,149
Derivative financial instrument –        555,680,244 555,680,244 555,680,244
Advances, deposits and –        
other receivables –        58,385,017 58,385,017 58,385,017
Short term investments 2.60% to 9.00% –        –        3,788,315,521 3,788,315,521 3,788,315,521
Cash and bank balances 1% to 3.5% 2,759,071 2,759,071 578,146,553 578,146,553 580,905,624

     2006 2,759,071 –        2,759,071 6,115,424,484 6,323,395,663 12,438,820,147 12,441,579,218

     2005 473,789,508 88,847,424 562,636,932 1,359,446,844 34,415,273 1,393,862,117 1,956,499,049
Financial liabilities:
Preference shares 8.95 % –        661,738,330 661,738,330 –        –        –        661,738,330
Long term financing 5.00% to 12.65% 338,913,068 3,519,216,988 3,858,130,056 –        –        –        3,858,130,056
Liabilities against assets
subject to finance lease 5.50% to 13.46% 47,776,589 9,622,618 57,399,207 –        –        –        57,399,207
Long term deposits and
payables –        1,643,889 1,643,889 1,643,889
Short term borrowings 5.11% to 14.24% –        –        –        6,006,117,630 –        6,006,117,630 6,006,117,630
Fair value of obligation 
under swap contracts –        32,021,607 32,021,607 32,021,607
Creditors, accrued and other
liabilities 11% 7,768,786 –        7,768,786 1,235,819,281 –        1,235,819,281 1,243,588,067
Unclaimed dividend –        22,312,061 –        22,312,061 22,312,061

     2006 394,458,443 4,190,577,936 4,585,036,379 7,296,270,579 1,643,889 7,297,914,468 11,882,950,847

     2005 458,290,474 3,587,060,844 4,045,351,318 3,912,803,501 –        3,912,803,501 7,958,154,819

Off balance sheet items:
Commitments –        –        –        193,940,000 –        193,940,000 193,940,000
Guarantee –        –        –        80,000,000 –        80,000,000 80,000,000

     2006 –        –        –        273,940,000 –        273,940,000 273,940,000

     2005 –        –        –        300,102,000 –        300,102,000 300,102,000

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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38.3 Foreign exchange risk management

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exists due to
transactions entered into foreign currency. The Company incurs foreign currency
risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are entered in a currency other than
Pak Rupees. The Company enters into forward contracts to guard against exchange
fluctuation and as such exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal.

38.4 Concentration of credit risk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognized at the
reporting date if counter parties failed completely to perform as contracted. To
reduce exposure to credit risk, the Company has developed formal approval process
whereby credit limits are applied to customers. The management also continuously
monitors the credit exposure toward the customers and make provisions against
these balances considered doubtful of recovery. Out of total financial assets of
Rs. 23,724 million (2005: Rs.1,956 million), the financial assets which are subject
to credit risk aggregated Rs.1,276 million (2005: Rs.521 million). The Company
believes that it is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk.

38.5 Interest risk management

Interest rate risk represents the value of a financial instrument which will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rate. Since the Company borrows most of the
funds at fixed interest rate or interest rate swap contracts are entered into to
hedge any movements in interest rates, the company's exposure to interest rate
risk is minimal.

38.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

39 DIVIDEND

Directors have proposed 11% cash dividend i.e. Rs.1.10 per ordinary share to be approved
by the shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 June, 2007.
Total amount of cash dividend to be paid Rs.343,981,063 which has not been accounted
for as liability in these financial statements.

40 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue on 28 April, 2007 by the Board of
Directors of the Company.

41 FIGURES

41.1 Following rearrangements have been made in comparative figures to reflect the
true form of the balances and transactions:

Amount
Current classification Previous classification Note Rupees

Redeemable Capital Long term Financing 6 347,920,000
Short term investments Long term investments 24.1 88,847,424
Short term investments Current maturity long term investments 24.1 9,637,121

41.2 Figures in the accounts have been rounded off nearest to rupee.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

We have audited the annexed consolidated financial statements comprising Consolidated Balance

Sheet of AZGARD NINE LIMITED as at December 31, 2006 and the related consolidated Profit

and Loss Account, consolidated Cash Flow Statement and consolidated statement of Changes

in Equity together with the notes forming part thereof, for the year then ended. We have also

expressed separate opinion on the financial statements for the same period of Azgard Nine

Limited. The financial statements of subsidiary companies Nafees International Tekstil Sanays

Ve Ticaret ANONIM SIRKET, Pak American Fertilizers Limited and Azsoft (Pvt) Limited were audited

by another firm of Chartered Accountants, whose reports have been furnished to us and our

opinion in so far as it related to the amounts included for such Companies, is based solely on

the reports of other auditors.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility

is to express our opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan.

These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the above said statements are free of any material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the above said

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies and significant estimates

made by management, as well as, evaluating the overall presentation of the above said statements.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.



AZGARD-9

C o n s o l i d a t e d  •  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 6 63

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position of

AZGARD NINE LIMITED as at December 31, 2006 and the results of its operations, its cash

flows and changes in equity for the year then ended in accordance with the approved accounting

standards as applicable in Pakistan.

We draw attention to note 38 to the financial statements regarding consolidation of Pak

American Fertilizers Limited.

Lahore Rahman Sarfraz & Co.

Date: April 28, 2007 Chartered Accountants
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 December 2006

31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Authorised 3 15,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

Issued, subscribed and paid up 3 3,788,838,900 1,737,308,680
Reserves 4 3,576,296,807 403,359,347
Unappropriated profit 586,927,934 953,107,592

7,952,063,641 3,093,775,619
MINORITY INTEREST 5 1,763,586 1,759,518

SURPLUS ON REVALUATION
OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 257,360,867 278,943,671

REDEEMABLE CAPITAL 7 7,712,953,464 2,330,312,532

LONG TERM FINANCING 8 3,519,216,988 347,920,000

LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS SUBJECT
TO FINANCE LEASE 9 17,084,358 40,173,972

LONG TERM DEPOSITS 10 1,643,889 2,907,643

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY 11 1,451,288,758 –        

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current portion of   
long term liabilities 12 1,491,041,799 433,780,774

Short term borrowings 13 6,456,117,630 3,142,402,324
Fair value of obligations under swap contracts 4.2 32,021,607 –        
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities 14 1,737,473,662 831,880,184
Provision for taxation 15 195,263,888 79,684,435
Unclaimed dividends 22,312,061 362,062

9,934,230,647 4,488,109,779
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 16

30,847,606,198 10,583,902,734

The annexed notes 1 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive
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31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 19,835,155,084 3,114,554,527
CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS 18 178,722,973 2,479,903,660
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 3,771,067,757 73,937,276

23,784,945,814 5,668,395,463

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS 20 49,088 1,021,418

LONG TERM ADVANCES 
AND DEPOSITS 21 33,156,512 29,745,135

CURRENT ASSETS

Stores, spares and loose tools 22 786,465,317 87,790,355
Stock in trade 23 2,117,533,944 2,035,875,069
Trade debts 24 1,520,389,291 1,034,669,395
Fair value derivative financial instruments 4.2 555,680,244 13,458,916
Advances, deposits, prepayments   

and other receivables 25 916,419,027 897,252,727
Short term investments 26 –         769,411,595
Cash and bank balances 27 1,132,966,961 46,282,661

7,029,454,784 4,884,740,718

30,847,606,198 10,583,902,734

Director
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year ended 31 December, 2006

01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees

SALES – Net 28 6,504,962,162 4,460,828,929

COST OF SALES 29 4,612,158,172 3,322,348,339
   

GROSS PROFIT 1,892,803,990 1,138,480,590

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES 30 553,995,871 327,483,372
   

OPERATING PROFIT 1,338,808,119 810,997,218

OTHER INCOME 32 71,554,190 305,447,731
   

1,410,362,309 1,116,444,949
OTHER CHARGES

Finance cost 33 1,187,223,953 290,509,378
Workers' profit participation fund 14.2 8,099,197 24,509,700
Others 34 1,057,600 11,355,950

1,196,380,750 326,375,028

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 213,981,559 790,069,921

PROVISION FOR TAXATION 15.1 58,457,297 50,857,877
   

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 155,524,262 739,212,044

MINORITY INTEREST 4,068 (985,042)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDING COMPANY 155,520,194 740,197,086

EARNINGS PER SHARE – Basic 36 0.44 7.40

– Diluted –         6.46

The annexed notes 1 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December, 2006

01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 31 December,
2006 2005

Note Rupees Rupees

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 213,981,559 790,069,921
Adjustment for:

Depreciation 535,227,563 264,284,035
Amortization of intangible assets 16,273,349 40,530,337
Gain on sale of investments (58,478,149) (199,442,372)
Unrealized gain on investments –        (35,039,438)
Mark–up on term finance certificates (4,206,768) (29,038,697)
Dividend income (6,079,924) (38,934,462)
Exchange adjustment –        27,878
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets (39,168) 6,661,778
Fair value adjustment of long term investment 996,768  –       
Interest income (18,313,547) (17,966,099)
Financial charges 1,205,537,500 308,475,477

1,670,917,624 299,558,437

Operating profit before working capital changes 1,884,899,183 1,089,628,358

Changes in working capital 41 (73,958,338) (920,807,188)

Cash flow from operations 1,810,940,845 168,821,170

Financial charges paid (788,271,817) (180,351,891)
Expenses on issue of company's securities (35,203,132) (34,775,530)
Long term advances and deposits 43,923,399 (11,227,305)
Long term deposits payable (1,263,753) 1,759,914
Taxes paid (83,852,571) (57,920,459)

NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 946,272,971 (113,694,101)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Fixed capital expenditure (2,447,405,767) (2,933,361,297)
Intangible assets (2,880,882) (1,174,441)
Sale proceeds of fixed assets 20,484,011 5,652,825
Acquisition of Pak–American Fertilizers   
Limited (PAFL) net of cash acquired 38.3 (15,403,434,688) –        
Losses incurred by Dominion Fertilizers Limited   
before merger with (PAFL) (231,789,693) –        
Long term investments –         (98,484,545)
Inflow from minority on formation of new subsidiary –         2,000
Short term investments 827,889,745 (327,296,309)
Mark–up received on term finance certificates 4,206,768 29,038,697
Dividend income 6,079,924 38,934,462
Interest received 18,313,547 17,966,099

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (17,208,537,035) (3,268,722,509)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Ordinary shares issued 4,648,446,653 –        
Redeemable capital obtained 6,486,000,000 2,143,670,000
Repayment of redeemable capital (63,357,468) –        
Long term finances obtained 3,307,350,000 –        
Repayment of long term finances (116,666,666) (150,000,000)
Finance lease liabilities paid (37,996,495) (71,068,422)
Short term finances– net 3,313,715,305 1,649,492,432
Dividend paid (188,542,965) (164,343,349)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 17,348,948,364 3,407,750,661

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,086,684,300 25,334,051
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 46,282,661 20,948,610

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,132,966,961 46,282,661

The annexed notes 1 to 46 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Chief Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December, 2006
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1 STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

The Group consists of:

Holding Company

– Azgard Nine Limted (ANL)

ANL was incorporated in Pakistan as a public limited company and its shares are
quoted at Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The Holding Company is a
composite spinning, weaving, dyeing and stitching unit engaged in the manufacturing
of yarn, denim and denim products. The registered office of the Holding Company
is situated at Ismail Aiwan–e–Science, Off Shahrah–e–Roomi, Lahore.

Subsidiaries companies, i.e. each of those companies in which the holding company owns
over 50% of voting rights, or companies controlled by the holding company.

– Pak–American Fertilizers Limited (PAFL)

PAFL was incorporated on December 15, 1959 as an unquoted Public Limited
Company, which was wholly owned subsidiary of National Fertilizer Corporation
of Pakistan (Pvt.) Ltd (NFC), a Government owned Corporation. Uptill July 15, 2006.
Subsequent to that date 100% shares of the company have been sold to ANL, as
a part of privatization process of the Government of Pakistan as stipulated in the
Share Purchase Agreement dated July 15, 2006. The factory and registered office
of the Company is situated at Iskanderabad (Daud Khel), District Mianwali. The
principal business of the company is the production and sale of Urea fertilizer.
The detail of net asets acquired and goodwill arising thereon has been given in
note 38.

– Nafees International Tekstil Snayi Ve Ticaret Anonim Sirketi (NIT)

NIT was incorporated in Turkey and principal activity of the Company is sale of
Denim and denim products. Proportion of ownership interest held by holding company
is 51 %.

– Azsoft (Pvt) Limited (APL)

APL was incorporated in Pakistan and principal activity of the Company is development,
implementation and sale of software products and providing related services.
Proportion of ownership interest held by holding company is 99.90 %.

1.1 Change in financial year

The Holding Company was accorded approval by commissioner of income tax to
adopt calendar year as financial year with effect from January 01, 2006 and also
obtained special permission from SECP to prepare financial statements exceeding
twelve months for the previous reporting period. As such the financial statements
are prepared for twelve months and corresponding figures of profit and loss
account, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and the related
notes are for fifteen months.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparation of financial statements are set
out below.

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved
accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies
Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance). Approved accounting standards comprise of such
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) / International Accounting
Standards (IASs) as notified under the provisions of the Ordinance. Where the
requirements of the Ordinance or directives issued by the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan differ with the requirements of these standards, the
requirements of the Ordinance or the said directives take precedence.
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2.2 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss account,
derivative financial instruments, available for sale financial assets are measured
at fair value and certain property, plant and equipment at revalued amount.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting
standards requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions and judgements
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision
to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision effects only that period, or in the period of revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas where
various assumptions and estimates are significant to Company's financial statements
or where judgements were exercised in application of accounting policies are as
follows:

– Useful life of depreciable Assets
– Taxation
– Provisions and contingencies
– Fair value of investments, derivatives and other financial instruments

2.3 Basis of consolidation

2.3.1 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the ANL
and its subsidiaries for the year / period ended December, 31 2006. Results of
PAFL have been consolidated from 1 July, 2006.(See note 38).

2.3.2 Subsidiary companies are consolidated from the date on which more than 50%
voting rights are transferred to the group or power to control the company is
established and are excluded from consolidation from the date of disposal.

2.3.3 The assets and liabilities of subsidiary companies have been consolidated on a
line–by–line basis and the carrying value of investment held by the holding company
is eliminated against the subsidiaries' share capital and pre–acquisition reserves
in the consolidated financial statements.

2.3.4 All intra–group transactions and balances are eliminated.

2.3.5 Minority interests are that part of net results of operations and of net assets
of subsidiary companies attributable to interest which are not owned by the holding
company.

2.3.6 Where necessary, accounting policies for subsidiary companies have been changed
to ensure consistency with policies adopted by the holding company.

2.4 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing
products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of other segments.

2.5 Staff retirement benefits

Holding Company – ANL

– Provident Fund

The holding company operates an approved defined contributory provident
fund for its employees exculding expatriates. Equal contributions are made
by employee and the Company @ 8.5 % per month of basic pay. Interest is
charged @ 8.25% on the outstanding fund balance and is charged to profit
and loss account.
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Pak–American Fertilizers Limited

– Staff Gratuity

The company operates an approved funded gratuity scheme for all those
confirmed employees who are not members of the pension scheme. Gratuity
is admissible on completion of the stipulated minimum qualifying period of
service. After privitazation, gratuity is restricted only to workers.

– Pension

The company's confirmed executive employees, except those who did not opt
for the pension scheme at the time of its introduction, were eligible for
certain pension benefits subject to completion of stipulated minimum period
of service. This scheme was managed on behalf of the company by NFC which
has been discontinued w.e.f. 16.07.2006. The company's contributions to the
scheme were being made at 17 per cent of Basic Salary and are charged to
the profit and loss account prior to that date. After privitazation, pension
scheme have been abolished.

– Provident Fund

The company operates a recognized contributory Provident Fund Scheme
which covers all confirmed employees at their option. The company and
employees makes an equal contribution at the rate of 10% for workers and
8.33% for executive employees.

2.6 Taxation

Income tax expenses comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is
recognised in profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current

Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax payable and adjustments,
if any, to provision for tax made in prior years arising from assessments completed
during the year for such years. 

Deferred

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on all temporary timing
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax base of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial statements' reporting purposes taking
into consideration the implications of taxes payable under presumptive tax regime,
if any. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied
to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which these assets can be utilized.
Defered tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the rates that are expected
to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based
on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except in the case of items credited or charged to equity in which case
it is included in equity.

2.7 Fixed capital expenditure and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except freehold land, are stated at cost or revalued
amounts less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any . Freehold land
is stated at revalued amount less identified impairment loss, if any. Cost in relation
to self constructed assets includes direct cost of material, labour and any other
costs directly attributeable to bringing the asset to a working conditions of its
intended use.
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The cost of replacing the part of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognized in the carrying amount of the the items if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodies within parts will flow to the company and its cost can
be measured reliably.

Different estimates have been used in calculating depreciation of assets of PAFL
a subsidiary company as compared to other group companies keeping in view the
nature of business and assets in use, comparision in this regard is as follows:

Group companies PAFL
Depreciation method Reducing balance Straight line
Depreciation rates % age Years
Buildings on freehold land 5 20
Plant and machinery 7.5 20
Joint residential colony assets 3 to 20
Furniture and fittings 10 3 to 10 
Vehicles 20
Road, rail transport 5
Railway sidings 20
Tools and equipment 10 3 to 10 
Office equipments 10
Electrical installations 10 20
Sui gas installations 20
Water supply pipeline 20
Books and literature 10
Catalysts As determined by 

engineer

Depreciation is charged to income whereby cost of an asset is written off over its
estimated useful life at the rates given in note 16. Amount equal to incremental
depreciation charged during the year on revalued amount of assets is transferred
from surplus on revaluation of fixed assets to unappropriated profit/accumulated
loss through statement of changes in equity. The adjustments made in this context
and the amounts involved have been disclosed in note 6 (surplus on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment).

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each financial
year–end.

Depreciation on additions is charged on a pro–rata basis from the month of use,
while for disposals depreciation is charged up to the month of disposal. Where an
impairment loss is recognized, the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future
periods to allocate the assets revised carrying amount over its estimated useful
life.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to income as and when incurred. Major
renewals and improvements are capitalized and the assets so replaced, if any, are
retired. Gains and losses on disposals of assets are included in income. When
revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation reserve is transferred
to retained earnings.

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress and stores held for capital expenditure are stated at
cost and represents expenditure incurred on property, plant and equipment during
the construction and installation. Cost also includes applicable borrowing costs.
Transfers are made to relevant property, plant and equipment category as and
when assets are available for commercial use.

2.8 Intangible assets

2.8.1 Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new
scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit and
loss when incurred.
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Costs incurred on development projects (relating to design and testing of new
or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets only if all of the
following conditions are met;

– development costs can be measured reliably,
– the product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
– and the the company intends to and has sufficient resources to complete

development and to use or sell the asset,
– an asset is created that can be identified; and
– it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits.

All other development expenditures are recognized as an expense when incurred.
Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as
an asset in the subsequent period. Development costs that have been capitalized
are amortized from the commencement of the commercial production of the product
on a straight line basis over the period of its expected benefits. The amortization
period adopted does not exceed five years.

Capitlised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

2.8.2 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration paid for acquiring
interests in a company and the value of Group's share of its net assets at the
date of acquisition.

The group carries out impairment testing of the goodwill in accordance with IAS
36, Impairment of Assets.

2.8.3 Others

Costs that are directly associated with identifiable software products and have
probable economic benefits beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets.

Softwares and other intangible assets are amortized over the period of their
expected benefits. The amortization period adopted does not exceed five years.

2.9 Accounting for finance lease

Operating leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the income statement on a straight–line basis over the period of the lease.

Finance leases

Leases in terms of which the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Assets subject to finance lease are
stated at the lower of present value of minimum lease payments under the lease
agreements or the fair value of the assets, less accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss, if any.

The related rental obligations, net of finance costs are classified as current and
long term depending upon the timing of the payment.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense
is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent
lease payments , if any are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments
over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed. The
interest element of the rental is charged to income over the lease term.

Assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the estimated useful
life of the asset at the rates given in note 2.7. Depreciation of leased assets is
charged to income.

Residual value and the useful life of an asset are reviewed at least at each
financial year–end.
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2.10 Investments

2.10.1Investments at fair value through profit or loss

These include investments classified as held for trading or upon initial recognition
it is designated by the Company as at fair value through profit or loss. Investments
which are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short
term fluctuations in price or dealer's margin are classified as held for trading.
After initial recognition, these are stated at fair values with any resulting gains
and losses recognized directly in income currently. Fair value of investments is
their quoted bid price at the balance sheet date.

2.10.2Available for sale

Investments which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may
be sold in response to the need for liquidity are classified as available–for–sale.
After initial recognition, these are stated at fair values unless fair value cannot
be measured reliably with any resulting gains and losses being taken directly to
equity until the investment is disposed or impaired. At the time of disposal, the
respective surplus or deficit is transferred to income currently. Fair value of
quoted investments is their bid price at the balance sheet date.

2.10.3Held to maturity investments

Investment with fixed maturity that the management has the intent and ability to
hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity and are initially recognised at
cost and at subsequent reporting dates measured at amortised cost using the
effective yield method.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date, which
is the date that the Company commits to purchase, or sell the investment. Cost
of purchase includes transaction cost.

Changes in carrying value are recognized in equity until investment is sold or
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognized in equity is included in profit and loss account for the year.

2.11 Stores, spares and loose tools

Usable stores, spares and loose tools generally held for internal use are valued
principally at moving average cost, while items considered obsolete are carried at
nil value. Items in transit are valued at cost comprising invoice value plus other
charges paid therein.

Previuosly these were valued at first in first out cost. Change in policy is brought
into effect to properly reflect the consumption pattern and match it with the
related economic benefits derived and has resulted in increase in value of stores,
spares and loose tools by Rs.3,522,597 and consequently increase in profit for
the year by the same amount. The change has immaterial impact on earning per share.
Retrospective effect has not been made due to immateriality.

2.12 Stock in trade

Basis of valuation are as follows:

Raw materials

At mills – At lower of weighted average cost and net realizable value
In–transit – At cost accumulated to the balance sheet date
Work in process – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realizable value

Finished goods – At lower of manufacturing cost and net realizable value

Waste – At net realizable value

Average manufacturing cost in relation to work in process and finished goods
includes prime cost and proportion of production overheads.

Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in ordinary course of
business less cost necessary to be incurred in order to make the sales.

Raw materials were previuosly valued at first in first out cost. Change in policy
is brought into effect to properly reflect the consumption pattern and match it
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with the related economics benefits derived and has resulted in increase in value
of raw materials by Rs.8,342,960 and consequently increase in profit for the year
by the same amount. The change has immaterial impact on earning per share.
Retrospective effect has not been made due to immateriality.

2.13 Foreign currency transactions

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Foreign currency
transactions are translated into Pak Rupees prevailing at the date of transaction.
Exchange differences are included in current profit and loss.

2.14 Financial instruments

2.14.1Financial assets

All financial assets have been stated in accordance with the requirements of
IAS–39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). Financial assets are
initially recognized at cost which is the fair value of the consideration given at
initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets are carried
at fair value except any financial assets whose fair value cannot be estimated
reliably.

A 'regular way' purchase or sale of financial assets are recognized using trade
date accounting.

2.14.2Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recognized at cost, which is the fair value of
the consideration received at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition
financial liabilities are carried at fair value except any financial liability whose fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, amortized cost or cost as the case may be.

2.14.3De–recognition

Financial assets are de–recognized when the Group losses control of the contractual
rights that comprise the financial assets.

Financial liabilities are de–recognized when they are extinguished, that is, when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Gain or loss, if any, on de–recognition and settlement of financial assets and
liabilities is included in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

2.14.4Trade debtors

Trade debtors are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts, if any.

2.14.5Creditors, accrued and other liabilities

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the
fair value of the consideration to be paid in future for goods and services.

2.14.6Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made.

2.14.7Off setting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are set–off and the net amount is reported
in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
and the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and
to settle the liabilities simultaneously.

2.14.8Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash–in–hand and balances with banks.
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2.14.9Derivative financial instruments

These are initially recorded at cost being the fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the
item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as cash flow hedges.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between
the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis,
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in cash flow of hedged items.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in equity. The gain or loss relating
to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the profit and loss account.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recognized in profit and loss account in the
periods when the hedged item will effect profit or loss. However, when the forecast
hedged transaction results in the recognition of a non–financial asset or a liability,
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity
and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

2.15 Dividend

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognized in equity in the period in which it is
approved.

2.16 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for
goods sold, net of discounts and sales tax. Revenue is recognized when it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to
the Company and the amount of revenue, and the associated cost incurred, or to
be incurred, can be measured reliably.

– Revenue from local sales is recognized on dispatch of goods to customers.
– Revenue from export sales is recognized on shipment basis.
– Export rebate is recognized when entitlement is established.
– Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive payment is

established.
– Interest/Mark–up income is recognized on accrual basis.

2.17 Government Grants

Grants that compensate the company for expenses incurred are recognised in profit
and loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
recognised as stated in note 31. Grants that compensate the company for the cost
of an asset are recognised in profit and loss account on a systematic basis over
the useful life of the asset. Other government grants are recognised initally as
deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the company will comply with the conditions associated with the grant.

2.18 Finance cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which
these are incurred.

2.19 Related party transactions

All transactions involving related parties arising in the normal course of business
are conducted at arm's length using valuation modes, as admissible. Parties are
said to be related when they meet the definition as provided in the Companies
Ordinance, 1984.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

3 SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Authorised capital

1,500,000,000 (2005: 300,000,000)
ordinary and preference shares of Rs. 10/- each 15,000,000,000 3,000,000,000

The Company introduced a new class of ordinary shares (non-voting) having no right to
receive notice of, attend, or vote at any general meeting except as otherwise provided in
the Ordinance, by passing a special resolution in extra ordinary general meeting held on
May 12, 2006. Authorized capital of the Company is Rs. 15,000,000,000 divided into
900,000,000 (2005: 153,000,000) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each, 300,000,000 (2005:
60,000,000)  ordinary shares (non-voting) of Rs.10 each and 300,000,000 (2005 : 87,000,000)
preference shares of Rs.10 each.

3.2 Issued, subscribed and paid up capital:

2006 2005 2006 2005
Numbers Note Rupees Rupees

249,621,992 23,777,369 Ordinary shares of Rs.10/– each
fully paid in cash 2,496,219,920 237,773,690

12,276,073 12,276,073 Issued as consideration for machinery 122,760,730 122,760,730
50,811,992 50,811,992 Issued as consideration for merger 508,119,920 508,119,920

312,710,057 86,865,434 3.3 3,127,100,570 868,654,340
66,173,833 86,865,434 Preference shares of Rs. 10/– each 3.4 661,738,330 868,654,340

fully paid in cash
378,883,890 173,730,868 3,788,838,900 1,737,308,680

3.3 Movement during the year

– Ordinary Shares

86,865,434 86,865,434 As at 01 January, 868,654,340 868,654,340
Conversion of preference shares to
ordinary shares in the ratio of 6.8 ordinary

14,070,288 –        shares for 10 preference shares held 140,702,880 –       
Ordinary shares of Rs.10 each issued
during the year as right shares in the ratio
of 21 shares for every 10 shares held,

211,774,335 –        fully paid in cash 2,117,743,350 –       

312,710,057 86,865,434 3,127,100,570 868,654,340

3.4 Preference shares

86,865,434 86,865,434 As at 01 January, 868,654,340 868,654,340
Conversion of preference shares to 
ordinary shares in the ratio of 6.8 ordinary

(20,691,601) –         shares for 10 preference shares held (206,916,010) –       

66,173,833 86,865,434 661,738,330 868,654,340

The Company issued cumulative preference shares during the year ended 30 September, 2004. These
are non–voting, non–participatory, partly convertible and are redeemable in 6 years from the date of
issuance. These are listed on Karachi Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited. The terms and conditions
of issue are as follows:

2.20 Impairment

The carrying amount of the Group's assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the assets are written down to their estimated recoverable amount and
impairment losses are recognized in the net profit and loss account. Consequently,
the depreciation charge is adjusted in the future period to allocate asset's revised
carrying amount over its estimated useful life.

2.21 Change in Accounting Policies

There have been no change in accounting policies except for those stated in notes
2.11 and 2.12.
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Rate of dividend
Annualised fixed dividend @ 8.95% per annum to be paid.
In case of default in payment of dividend:
Default in payment during first year and paid Rate of dividend will be 9.75 % for first year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 1.87 per share including 8.95% for

second year.
Default in payment during second year and paid Rate of dividend will be 20.73 % for second year, total
regularly during subsequent years. dividend for the year will be Rs. 2.93 per share including

8.95% for third year.
Default in payment during third year and paid Rate of dividend will be 31.95 % for third year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 4.09 per share including 8.95% for

fourth year.
Default in payment during fourth year and paid Rate of dividend will be 44.56 % for fourth year, total
regularly during subsequent years. dividend for the year will be Rs. 5.35 per share including

8.95% for fifth year.
Default in payment during fifth year and paid Rate of dividend will be 58.30 % for fifth year, total dividend
regularly during subsequent years. for the year will be Rs. 6.73 per share including 8.95% for

sixth year.
At the end of year six, if the Company fails to pay dividend and/or redeem the principal in
the manner mentioned below, the entire amount of the accrued dividend plus the face value
of the outstanding preference share will be converted, at the option of preference
shareholder, into ordinary shares at break-up value of the Company to be determined at
that time.

Redemption option and timing

Redemption will be allowed as follows subject to the provisions of Section 85 of the
Companies Ordinance, 1984, as follows:
     50% of the issued amount at the end of fifth (5th) year of issuance/allotment;
     50% of the issued amount at the end of sixth (6th) year of issuance/allotment;

Conversion/ Swap

The preference shareholders may at their option convert up to 25% of the value of their
respective preference shares into ordinary shares between eighteen and forty two months
from the issue/ allotment at the conversion ratio of ten preference shares for 6.8 ordinary
shares. Preference share-holders exercising their right of conversion will not receive any
of remaining fixed coupon amounts on the converted amount.

Redemption reserve

The Company will create a redemption reserves of at least up to the amount of redemption
of preference shares i.e. at least up to the amount of outstanding preference shares
submitted for redemption by:

– Allocating Rs.150 million of the reserves as at 30th September, 2004;

– Appropriating profits of at least Rs 50 million each subsequent year to build up
redemption reserve;

– Creating additional reserves to match the amount required for redemption.

Preference shares have been classified as part of equity capital in accordance with the
terms and conditions of issue, taking into consideration the implied classification of share
capital as inherent in the various provisions of the Companies Ordinance, 1984. Further
the contradictions between implied classification of share capital inherent in the various
provisions of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 and IFRSs are pending clarification and
resolution with Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

4 RESERVES
Capital Reserves

Share premium on ordinary shares 4.1 2,633,371,139 71,657,838
Preference shares redemption reserve 313,500,000 212,500,000
Reserve on merger 105,152,005 105,152,005

3,052,023,144 389,309,843
Surplus on revaluation of investments 587,148 562,710
Hedging reserve 4.2

At the beginning of the year 13,458,916 –        
Increase in the fair value of cash
flow hedging derivatives 510,199,721 13,458,916

523,658,637 13,458,916
Exchange difference on transalation
of financial statements of foreing subsidiary 27,878 27,878

3,576,296,807 403,359,347

4.1 Share premium on ordinary shares
At the beginning of the year 71,657,838 106,433,368
Premium on right issue at the rate of
Rs.11.95 per share 2,530,703,303 –        
Premium on conversion of preference
shares to ordinary shares at the rate
of Rs.3.20 per share 66,213,130 –        

2,668,574,271 106,433,368
 
Expenses incurred on issue of company's securities 35,203,132 34,775,530

2,633,371,139 71,657,838

4.2 Hedging reserve

The Holding Company during the current and previous financial period has entered
into local and foreign currency interest rate swap contracts to hedge the possible
adverse movements in interest rates and exchange rates. As the hedging relationship
is effective and meets the criteria of cash flow hedge, this arrangement qualifies
for hedge accounting as per specification of IAS–39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement.

The increase in fair value of interest rate swap contracts has been recognised in
the statement of changes in equity as hedging reserve. Break–up of fair values of
swap contracts as at 31 December, 2006 is as follows:

Finance obtained from Swapped with
Privately Placed TFCs Citi Bank N.A 7.1 (621,936)
Citi Bank N.A Standard Chartered Bank 8.3 (1,128,096)
Citi Bank N.A Citi Bank N.A 8.3 (722,198)
Citi Bank N.A Citi Bank N.A 13.2 (29,549,376)

(32,021,607)

Privately Placed TFCs Standard Chartered Bank 7.1 11,998,746
Term Finance Certificates ABN Amro 7.2 308,757,130
United Bank Limited Standard Chartered Bank 8.2 4,400,130
National Bank of Pakistan Citi Bank N.A 8.5 138,900,571
Deutsche Investitions

       –Und MBH Citi Bank N.A 8.6 91,623,667 

555,680,244 
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

5 MINORITY INTEREST

Opening balance 1,759,518 2,742,560

Minority interest on formation of Azsoft (Pvt.) Ltd. –         2,000
Share of profit/ loss) for the year 4,068 (985,042)

1,763,586 1,759,518

6 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF
PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Opening balance 278,943,671 306,564,511

Surplus transferred to unappropriated profit relating to:
– Current year depreciation 17,583,248 27,392,552
– Disposal of revalued fixed assets 3,999,556 228,288

21,582,804 27,620,840

257,360,867 278,943,671

The Holding Company revalued land, building and plant & machinery during 1999 and
2002 which produced revaluation surplus of Rs. 253.29 million and Rs. 160.83 million
respectively. The total surplus of Rs. 414.123 million had been added to the book value
of the assets and the corresponding amount had been credited to the surplus on
revaluation of fixed assets. These assets have been revalued by an independent valuer
M/s. Blue Feathers Affiliations. These assets were revalued on the basis of present
replacement depreciated values.

7 REDEEMABLE CAPITAL

Holding Company

– Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) – I 7.1 187,500,000 250,000,000
– Term Finance Certificates (TFCs) – II 7.2 2,142,812,532 2,143,670,000

Subsidiary Company – PAFL
– Privately placed term finance certificates – III 7.3 4,800,000,000 –        
– Privately placed term finance certificates – IV 7.4 1,686,000,000 –        

8,816,312,532 2,393,670,000
Current maturity grouped under current liabilities 1,103,359,068 63,357,468

7,712,953,464 2,330,312,532

7.1 PPTFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of
institutional investors. The total issue comprises of 250 PPTFCs having face value
of Rs. 100,000 and 45,000 TFCs having face value of Rs. 5,000.

Terms of repayment

Call option/ Partial call option

The Holding Company may redeem the PPTFCs by way of exercise of the call/partial
call option by giving written notice to the PPTFC holders and the trustee of not
less than ninety days. In case of exercise of call/partial call option within thirty
months from the issue date, the Holding Company is liable to pay premium @ 0.1%
of the call/partial redemption amount.

Rate of return

The return on PPTFCs is payable semi annually. This is calculated at six months
KIBOR prevailing two days prior to the issue date and subsequently two days prior
to start of each semi annual period in respect of which profit payment due at the
end of that period plus margin of 1.75%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of PPTFC holders, NIB Bank Limited has been
appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 2nd August, 2004.
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In case the Holding Company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may
enforce the Holding Company's obligations in accordance with the terms of trust
deed. The proceeds of any such enforcements shall be distributed to the PPTFC
holders at that time on pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to them
in pursuant to the PPTFCs.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets excluding immovable property and mortgage of immovable properties.

7.2 These have been issued by way of private placement and public subscription and are
listed on the Karachi Stock Exchange. Total issue comprises of 428,734 certificates
of Rs. 5,000 each.

Terms of repayment

The principal redemption of TFCs are structured to be in ten unequal semi–annual
installment starting from March 2008.

Profit rate and payment

6 month KIBOR plus 240 basis points, without any floor or cap and is payable
semi–annually in arrears.

Conversion option

TFC holders will have the right of conversion of 25 % of the value into ordinary
(non–voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 30 % discount
to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary shares prevailing
at the time of conversion, at any time between January 01, 2008 to March 31,
2008 after giving 30 days advance notice to the issuer and trustee. Incase of
existent established market for the Holding Company’s ordinary (non voting) shares
at the time of conversion, TFC holders will have the right for conversion into
ordinary (non voting) shares, rounded off to the nearest whole number, at a 15
% discount to the preceding three months average share price of ordinary share
(non–voting).

Security

First pari passu charge on the present and future fixed assets of the Holding
Company (excluding land and building) with 25 % margin in favor of the trustee.

Trustee

In order to safe–guard the interest of the TFC holders, First Dawood Investment
Bank Ltd. has been appointed to as Trustee for the issue.

In case the Holding Company defaults in any of its obligations, the trustee may
enforce the Holding Company’s obligation in accordance with the terms of the
trust deed. The proceed of any such enforcement shall be distributed to the TFC
holders at the time on a pari passu basis in proportion to the amounts owed to
them pursuant to the TFCs, subject to the priority rights of all other creditors
and depositors of the Holding Company.

7.3 PPTFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of investors.
The total issue comprises of 6,900 (including 2,100 PPTFCs held by Holding
Company eliminated in consolidation) PPTFCs having face vale of Rs. 1,000,000.

Terms of repayment

Call option

PAFL may redeem the PPTFCs by way of exercise of the call option by giving written
notice to the PPTFC holders and the trustee of not less than 30 days. Call option
will be exercisable after expiry of 6 months from the date of issue.
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Rate of return

The return on PPTFCs is payable quarterlty. This is calculated at six months KIBOR
plus margin of 3.25%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of PPTFC holders, Faysal Bank Limited has been
appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 12 July, 2006.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets.

7.4 PPTFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of investors.
The total issue comprises of 1,686 PPTFCs having face vale of Rs. 1,000,000.

Terms of repayment

Call option

PAFL may redeem the PPTFCs by way of exercise of the call option by giving written
notice to the PPTFC holders and the trustee of not less than 7 days. Call option
will be exercisable at any time from the date of issue.

Rate of return

The return on PPTFCs is payable quarterlty. This is calculated at six months KIBOR
plus margin of 3.25%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of PPTFC holders, Faysal Bank Limited has been
appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 12 July, 2006.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets.

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

It includes payable to related parties as follows:
Pakistan International Container Terminal 220,000,000 –       
Ali Jahangir Siddiqui 226,000,000  –       
Ahmed H. Shaikh 50,000,000 –       
Aehsun H. Shaikh 50,000,000 –       

546,000,000 –       

8 LONG TERM FINANCING – Secured

Habib Bank Limited (HBL) 8.1 200,000,000 250,000,000
United Bank Limited (UBL) 8.2 200,000,000 200,000,000
Citi Bank N.A
– Finance 1 8.3 133,333,334 200,000,000
– Finance 2 8.4 600,000,000 –       
National Bank of Pakistan (NBP) 8.5 1,500,000,000 –       
Deutsche Investitions–Und MBH 8.6 1,207,350,000 –       
Faysal Bank Limited (FBL) 8.7 17,446,722 –       

3,858,130,056 650,000,000
Current maturity grouped under current liabilities 338,913,068 302,080,000

3,519,216,988 347,920,000
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8.1 The Holding Company obtained this finance from consortium of banks lead by HBL
which is repayable in 10 equal half yearly installments commencing from December,
2003. The finance carries mark-up based on 6 months offer rate of KIBOR plus
280 bps with no floor no cap. It is secured by way of first pari passu charge on
the project through equitable mortgage on land and building and hypothecation
of plant and machinery.

The loan includes share of Saudi Pak Commercial Bank of Rs. 20 million. In December
2006, share of Saudi Pak Commercial Bank has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP
scheme. The loan now carries mark-up of 7%.

8.2 The facility carries mark-up at the rate of KIBOR at the beginning of each calendar
quarter plus 1.75%. The facility is repayable in 8 equal semi annual installments
commencing from December 2005 with mark-up being payable on quarterly basis
commencing September 2005. The facility is secured against 1st pari passu charge
on fixed assets and demand promissory notes.

This facility has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP scheme in December 2006. The
facility now carries mark up rate of 7%.

8.3 The facility carries mark-up at the rate of 8% per annum and is repayable in 6 equal
half yearly installments commencing from February 2006. The facility is secured
by way of hypothecation and/or hypothecation over the present and future fixed
assets of the Holding Company and demand promissory notes.

This facility has been swapped under SBP's LTF EOP scheme in February 2007. The
facility now carries mark up rate of 6%.

8.4 The facility carries mark-up based on 6 months KIBOR plus 3.25% with no floor
no cap. This facility is repayable in 16 equal quarterly installments commencing
October, 2007. It is secured by way of first pari passu charge over all present
and future fixed assets, investments of the Holding Company, mortgage over land
and building and pledge of securities.

This facility has been swapped with Citibank Bahrain for $ 10,000,000 in February
2007. The facility now carries mark up of 6 months LIBOR plus 4%.

8.5 The facility carries mark-up based on 6 months KIBOR plus 3.25% and is repayable
in 12 equal half yearly installments commencing January, 2008 with mark-up being
payable on half yearly basis commencing January, 2007. It is secured by way of
first charge over the hypothecated fixed assets, ranking charge over the hypothecated
current assets of the Holding Company, mortgage over land and building, pledge
of securities

Company has entered into cross currency swap agreement with Citibank NA. As per
swap agreement liability has been converted into US dollars and company is liable
to pay mark-up based on LIBOR plus 4.75%.

8.6 The Holding Company during the previous year entered into a financing agreement
to the tune of Euro 15 million with Deutsche Investitions-Und MBH a financial
institution incorporated under the laws of Germany. Funds have been used to
finance the installation of new spinning, denim and garment projects. The facility
carries interest at six months EURIBOR plus 3.25% per annum and is repayable
in 10 equal half yearly installments commencing August 15, 2008. This loan is
secured by first pari passu charge over land, buildings and all movable assets,
and promissory note.

Company has entered into cross currency swap agreement with Citibank NA. As per
swap agreement liability has been converted into Swiss franc and company is liable
to pay mark-up based on CHF LIBOR plus 3.55%.

8.7 The Holding Company obtained this finance from FBL under State Bank of Pakistan's
LTF-EOP scheme as a conversion of lease finances into LTF. This facility carries
mark-up at the rate of 6% per annum payable on quarterly basis. This finance is
repayable on quarterly basis in seven unequal installments commencing March,
2007.

8.8 In order to protect itself from adverse interest rate movements, in respect of
above financing, the Holding Company has entered into Interest rate swap agreements,
Currency swap agreements and Foreign Exchange Options with various banks.

Out of total outstanding loans, loans amounting to Rs. 5,600 million has been
hedged using abovementioned derivatives.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

9 LIABILITIES AGAINST ASSETS
SUBJECT TO FINANCE LEASE – Secured

Gross minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 55,992,001 81,542,809
Later than one year but not later than five years 20,574,168 48,714,073

76,566,169 130,256,882
Less: Financial charges allocated to future periods 6,747,198 10,097,006

69,818,971 120,159,876
Less: Security deposits adjustable on expiry of

lease terms 3,964,950 11,642,598

65,854,021 108,517,278
Less: Current maturity grouped under current liabilities 48,769,663 68,343,306

17,084,358 40,173,972
Present value of minimum lease payments
Not later than one year 48,769,663 68,343,306
Later than one year but not later than five years 17,084,358 40,173,972

65,854,021 108,517,278

The Group has acquired plant and machinery and vehicles from various Leasing Companies.
Rentals are payable in monthly/quarterly installments upto September, 2010. The discount
factors applied range between 5.50% to 13.46% per annum. The Group intends to exercise
its option to purchase the leased assets upon payment of liability over the lease term
and surrender of deposit at the end of lease term. Taxes, repairs and insurance costs
are to be borne by lessee. In case of termination of the agreement, the lessee is to pay
the entire rent of un–expired period. These are secured against demand promissory notes.

During the year an amount of Rs.17,446,222 has been converted into long term finance
as detailed in note 8.7.

10 LONG TERM DEPOSITS – Unsecured

This includes deposits received from customers and retention money payable to contractors
due after twelve months.

11 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

This relates to a Subsidiary Company – PAF L
and comprises of the following:
Deferred Tax Liability
Difference in tax and accounting base of property, plant & equipment 3,045,970,012 –         
Deferred Tax Asset
Unused Tax Losses (1,594,681,254) –         

1,451,288,758 –         

11.1 It is expected that taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future
against which deferred tax asset can be utilised.

11.2 The Holding Company's export sales (including indirect exports) during the year
ending December 31, 2006 achieved the threshold of presumptive tax and the trend
is expected to continue in foreseeable future. Accordingly, no provision for deferred
tax has been made.

11.3 There are no other material timing differences except for those against which
deferred tax liability has been accounted for. Effective tax rate for the calculation
of deferred tax liability is 35%.
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31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

12 CURRENT PORTION OF LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Redeemable capital 7 1,103,359,068 63,357,468
Long term financing 8 338,913,068 302,080,000
Liabilities against assets subject to finance lease 9 48,769,663 68,343,306

1,491,041,799 433,780,774

13 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS

Secured

Short term privately placed term finance certificates 13.1 2,500,000,000 –       
Short term finances 13.2 2,973,729,661 2,395,697,717
Short term running finances 13.3 912,969,656 702,820,703

6,386,699,317 3,098,518,420
Unsecured

Temporary overdraft 13.4 69,418,313 43,883,904

6,456,117,630 3,142,402,324

13.1 TFCs have been issued by way of private placements with a consortium of institutional
investors. The total issue comprises of 500,000 TFCs having face vale of Rs. 5,000
each.

Terms of repayment

Call option

The Holding Company may redeem the TFCs by way of exercise of the call option
by giving written notice to the TFC holders and the trustee of not less than one
day.

Rate of return

The return on TFCs is payable on quarterly basis. This is calculated at six months
KIBOR prevailing on the issue date and subsequently on the first business day at
the beginning of every alternate quarter in respect of which profit payment is due
on the two subsequent redemption dates plus margin of 3.00%.

Trustee

In order to protect the interests of TFC holders, Jahangir Siddiqui Investment
Bank Limited has been appointed as trustee under a trust deed dated 5th July,
2006.

Security

This finance is secured by first pari passu charge over present and future fixed
assets excluding immovable property and mortgage of immovable properties.

13.2 These represent short–term financing facilities available from various banks
amounting to Rs.4,710.00 million (2005: Rs.4,380.29 million) including US $ 27.84
million (2005: US $ 15.83 million). These facilities carry mark–up at the rates
ranging between Re.0.14 to Re.0.39 per Rs. 1,000 per day.

L/C limits available for opening letters of credit/guarantee aggregate Rs.1,646.00
million (2005: Rs.2,369.48 million) of which the amount remaining un–utilized at
the year end was Rs.851.39 million (2005: Rs.1,586.81 million).

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets,
hypothecation of stocks of raw materials, work–in–process and finished goods,
pledge of raw materials, goods imported through banks, export bills drawn under
confirmed L/C's or contracts and lien on documents of the title of goods.

These include foreign currency liability of US $ 6.13 million (2005: US $ 4.13
million) which have been converted into Pak Rupees at the exchange rate prevailing
on the balance sheet date i.e. US $1 = Rs.60.98 (2005: U.S.$ 1= Rs.59.93).

The facilities are generally available for a period of twelve months and are
renewable on expiry, however, purchase prices are repayable on various dates,
latest by December 31, 2006.
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Facilities available to a Subsidiary Company – PAFL from Faysal Bank Limited and
Bank Alfalah Limited amounting Rs.450 million have been fully utilised by the
Subsidiary Company. These facilities carry mark–up at the rate of KIBOR plus 2%.
These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets of the
Subsidiary Company.

13.3 Short term running finance facilities available from various banks under mark up
arrangements amount to Rs.1,065.50 million (2005:Rs.912.50 Million). These
facilities carries mark–up at the rates ranging between Re.0.26 to Re.0.39 per Rs.
1,000 per day.

These finances are secured by 1st pari passu charge over current assets,
hypothecation of stocks of raw materials, work–in–process and finished goods,
pledge of raw materials.

13.4 It represents cheques issued by the Holding Company in excess of balance at banks
which have been presented for payment in the subsequent period.

31 December, 06 31 December, 05
Note Rupees Rupees 

14 CREDITORS, ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Creditors 14.1 528,563,432 134,896,010
Bills payable – Secured 195,065,104 394,601,913
Accrued liabilities 184,649,939 76,516,977
Payable to optees of Golden hand shake /
voluntary separation scheme 17,082,880 –      
Security deposists 14,475,526 –      
Workers' Welfare Fund 20,000 20,000
Advances from customers 31,129,299 15,089,698
Mark–up accrued on:
Long term finances including term finance certificates 498,747,831 96,071,732
Short term borrowings 73,858,235 58,717,720
Lease finance charges 863,999 1,414,929
Worker's Profit Participation Fund 14.2 40,465,455 24,509,700
Sales tax payable 29,102,276 –       
Tax deducted at source 22,143,170 15,470,450
Other liabilities 101,306,516 14,571,055

1,737,473,662 831,880,184

14.1 This includes Rs.130 million payable against purchase of garment unit.

14.2 Workers' Profit Participation Fund

Opening balance 24,509,700 20,803,281
Liability of a subsidiary – PAFL at the time of acquisition 33,548,346 –       
Add: Interest on funds utilized by the Group 1,014,852 326,582

59,072,898 21,129,863

Less: Payments made during the year 26,706,640 21,127,936
Deposited in government treasury –         1,927

26,706,640 21,129,863

32,366,258 –       
Add: Contribution for the year 8,099,197 24,509,700

40,465,455 24,509,700
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15 PROVISION FOR TAXATION

15.1 Current
Opening balance 79,684,435 64,824,871
Add: Provision made during the year

– Current year
     Holding 115,569,082 47,858,304
     Subsidiaries 8,070,585 –       
– Prior years –          2,999,573

123,639,667 50,857,877

203,324,102 115,682,748

Less: Adjusted against completed assessments 8,060,214 35,998,313

195,263,888 79,684,435

15.2 Current status of pending tax assessments

15.2.1Income tax assessments of Azgard Nine Limited have been completed up to the
assessment year 2002–03. Central Board of revenue has selected tax years 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006 for detailed audit. The Company's appeals for assessment years
1996–1997, 1998–1999, 1999–2000, 2000–2001 & 2001–2002 before the Lahore
High Court are pending for adjudication and assessment year 2002–03 is pending
before CIT appeals.

15.2.2The Holding Company has filed appeals pertaining to cases of Nafees Cotton Mills
(now merged into the Holding Company) before the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal
for the assessment years 1999–2000, 2000–2001, 2001–2002, 2002–2003 which
are pending for adjudication. The Holding Company has also filed appeal before
the Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals) for the Tax Year 2003, which is pending
for adjudication.

15.2.3Provision for current year's taxation of Holding Company represents tax payable
under section 154 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001(the Ordinance), keeping in
view the provisions of Circular No.5 of 2000 read with rule 216 of Income Tax
Rules 1982 for export sales and section 5 of the Ordinance.

15.2.4Provision for current year's taxation of subsidiaries represents tax payable under
section 113 of the Ordinance.

15.3 As the Holding Company is subject to final taxation and provision for subsidiary's
taxation represent tax payable under section 113 of the Ordinance, hence no tax
rate reconciliation has been presented.

16 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There are no contingencies and commitments relating to NIT and APL.

HOLDING COMPANY

CONTINGENCIES

16.1 The Holding Company was denied exemption by the customs department under SRO
484(I)/92 from levy of customs duty and sales tax on certain plant and machinery.
The Holding Company filed an appeal in the High Court, which was decided in its
favour. The department has filed an appeal against the same in the supreme court.
In case of adverse decision the maximum liability is likely to rise to Rs.9.40 million
approximately. No provision has been made in these accounts since the Holding
Company expects a favorable outcome.
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16.2 The Holding Company imported textile machinery availing exemption from customs
duty and sales tax on importation thereof under various SROs. The claim subject
to fulfillment of certain conditions aggregates Rs.45.739 million (2005: Rs. 68.156
million).

16.3 Refer to contents of note 3.4 relating to dividends payable on preference shares.

COMMITMENTS

16.4 Counter guarantees given by the Holding Company to its bankers outstanding as
at 31 December, 2006 were for Rs.80 million (2005: Rs. 24 million).

16.5 Commitments against irrevocable letters of credit outstanding for purchase of
raw materials as at 31st December, 2006 amount to Rs.193.94 million
(2005:Rs.126.89 million).

SUBSIDIARY COMPANY – PAFL

CONTINGENCIES

16.6 The contractor's claim amounting to Rs.983.260 million against the company not
acknowledged as debt because the company also has counter claim amounting to
Rs. 2,555.966 million against the contractor. The claims are under settlement
with arbitrator.

16.7 A petition had been filed by the Ex–employees who opted Voluntary Separation
Scheme in July, 1997 and demanding the benefits of golden hand shake scheme
which was introduced after July, 1997. The Company estimates the liability amounting
to Rs. 14 million against such a claim, in case the decision is made against the
company. However, the management is of the opinion that no such scheme was
payable to those employees.

16.10 Certain labour cases were pending before the labour courts, where the claim can
not be quantified and ascertained at this stage.

COMMITMENTS

16.11 Commitments against irrevocable letters of credit outstanding as at 31st December,
2006 amounting to Rs.6.127 million.
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        Cost / Revaluation Depreciation Net Book

   As at Assets of Additions, Leased   As at As at Depreciation of For On As at Value as at
  Particulars 01 January, subsidiary during the assets Disposals 31 December, 01 January, subsidiary the disposals / 31 December, 31 December,
    2006 on acquisition year transfers   2006 2006 on acquisition year transfers 2006 2006

                   
Owned:
Freehold land
– Cost 361,012,241 29,531,584 148,184,868 –         –         538,728,693 –         –         –         –         –         538,728,693
– Revaluation 8,442,352 –         1,810,214,666 –         –         1,818,657,018 –         –         –         –         –         1,818,657,018

369,454,593 29,531,584 1,958,399,534 –         –          2,357,385,711 –         –         –         –         –         2,357,385,711
Buildings on 
freehold land
– Cost 390,221,160 605,452,700 1,126,472,095 –         448,693 2,121,697,262 107,563,909 266,664,209 33,812,348 (448,683) 407,591,783 1,714,105,479
– Revaluation 19,455,864 –         429,550,920 –         –         449,006,784 3,405,916 –         7,965,199 –         11,371,115 437,635,669

409,677,024 605,452,700 1,556,023,015 –         448,693 2,570,704,046 110,969,825 266,664,209 41,777,547 (448,683) 418,962,898 2,151,741,148
Plant and machinery
– Cost 2,828,182,043 7,462,708,580 3,338,783,614 42,900,000 22,890,903 13,649,683,334 953,326,027 3,587,270,176 317,816,035 (8,160,780) 4,862,040,102 8,787,643,232

  11,788,644 
– Revaluation 385,911,486 –         5,177,890,741 –         5,983,667 5,557,818,560 131,460,115 –         103,075,410 (1,984,111) 232,551,414 5,325,267,146

3,214,093,529 7,462,708,580 8,516,674,355 42,900,000 28,874,570 19,207,501,894 1,084,786,142 3,587,270,176 420,891,445 1,643,753 5,094,591,516 14,112,910,378
Share of joint residential 
colony assets
– Cost –         10,000,354 61,116 –         –         10,061,470 –         8,529,953 107,165 –         8,637,118 1,424,352
– Revaluation –         –         60,216,186 –         –         60,216,186 –         –         1,003,603 –         1,003,603 59,212,583

–         10,000,354 60,277,302 –         –         70,277,656 –         8,529,953 1,110,768 –         9,640,721 60,636,935
Furniture and fittings 23,449,579 43,004,302 25,664,609 –         841,701 91,276,789 7,836,564 32,114,250 3,686,295 (613,510) 43,023,599 48,253,190
Vehicles 24,489,840 –         4,115,565 2,550,000 2,577,167 28,578,238 17,174,971 –         1,605,281 (1,485,420) 18,916,427 9,661,811

1,621,595
Road, rail transport –         104,668,210 –         –         2,176,229 102,491,981 –         91,974,725 3,486,033 (1,781,014) 93,679,744 8,812,237
Railway sidings –         17,709,023 –         –         –         17,709,023 –         9,014,255 328,719 –         9,342,974 8,366,049
Tools and equipment 12,200,839 168,447,371 53,240,647 –         –         233,888,857 4,526,529 113,204,668 10,044,982 –         127,776,179 106,112,678
Office equipments 71,842,754 –         19,495,901 –         –         91,338,655 17,925,030 –         6,344,273 –         24,269,303 67,069,352
Electrical installations 76,110,707 1,291,635,206 38,762,454 –         –         1,406,508,367 24,780,528 614,405,202 30,830,867 –         670,016,597 736,491,770
Sui gas installations –         13,072,962 –         –         –         13,072,962 –         6,441,379 245,665 –         6,687,044 6,385,918
Water supply pipeline –         23,815,011 –         –         –         23,815,011 –         12,830,214 404,430 –         13,234,644 10,580,367
Books and literature –         608,309 –         –         –         608,309 –         322,807 22,608 –         345,415 262,894
Catalysts. –         3,943,787 –         –         –         3,943,787 –         985,941 657,300 –         1,643,241 2,300,546

– 
4,201,318,865 9,774,597,399 12,232,653,382 45,450,000 34,918,360 26,219,101,286 1,267,999,589 4,743,757,779 521,436,213 (1,063,279) 6,532,130,302 19,686,970,984

Leased: –         

Plant and machinery 219,765,143 –         –         (42,900,000) –         176,865,143 44,662,531 –         11,833,881 (11,788,644) 44,707,768 132,157,375
Vehicles 12,351,499 –         12,779,960 (2,550,000) –         22,581,459 6,218,860 –         1,957,469 (1,621,595) 6,554,734 16,026,725

232,116,642 –         12,779,960 (45,450,000) –         199,446,602 50,881,391 –         13,791,350 (13,410,239) 51,262,502 148,184,100

2006 Rupees 4,433,435,507 9,774,597,399 12,245,433,342 –         34,918,360 26,418,547,888 1,318,880,980 4,743,757,779 535,227,563 (14,473,518) 6,583,392,804 19,835,155,084

2005 Rupees 3,913,800,722 –         543,216,764 –         23,581,979 4,433,435,507 1,065,864,321 –         264,284,035 (11,267,376) 1,318,880,980 3,114,554,527

17.1 The method for charge of depreciation has been changed from full year depreciation on additions during the year and no depreciation on disposals during the year, with the exception of major additions or extensions to production facilities,
effected by capitalization, out of capital work in progress are depreciated on a pro rata basis, to depreciation on additions is charged from the month in which property, plant and equipment is available for use while no depreciation is charged for
the month in which property, plant and equipment is disposed off. There is no material impact due to change in accounting estimate.

17. OPERATING FIXED ASSETS

17.2 Disposal of operating fixed assets.

              Particulars Cost Accumulated Book value Sale Gain Mode of  Particulars of purchaser  
  depreciation proceeds disposal    

Building

Gasification Building 448,693 448,683 10 75,000 74,990 Tender M/s Mehmood & Co.

Machinery

Single Needle stitch Machine 5,241,794 2,416,745 2,825,049 
Single Needle stitch Machine 1,602,573 716,356 886,217  
Double Needle stitch Machine  7,997,672 3,552,611 4,445,061  
Single Needle stitch Machine  748,852 342,563 406,289  
Waste Bend Machine  549,150 178,777 370,373  
Cover stitch Machine  195,989 63,803 132,186  
Bottom Hem Machine  66,581 18,826 47,755  
Single Needle stitch Machine  212,175 47,653 164,522  
Safety Over Lock Machine  535,822 277,229 258,594  
Mock Stitch Machine  93,453 40,402 53,051  
Bartak Machine  1,447,913 625,302 822,611 
Single Needle stitch Machine  228,000 36,872 191,128  
Feedo Arm  952,572 154,049 798,523  

  19,872,546 8,471,188 11,401,359 11,474,500 73,140 Negotiation M. Ashraf & Co.

Washing Machine  195,000 43,795 151,205  
Hydro Extractor 500,000 112,295 387,706  
Hydro Extractor 475,000 106,680 368,320  

  1,170,000 262,770 907,230 203,896 (703,335) Negotiation Master Khalil 
Draw Frames - 3  3,916,012 695,402 3,220,609 1,800,000 (1,420,609) Negotiation Shadman Cotton Mills, Lahore
Card Machines - 8    
(Hergth Shoot Feed)  3,916,012 715,531 3,200,481 4,680,000 1,479,519 Negotiation Shoaib Salman Textile Mills, Lahore

28,874,570 10,144,891 18,729,679 18,158,396 (571,285)

Vehicles

Suzuki Baleno  675,667 376,662 299,005 414,000 114,995   Negotiation Mr. Irfan Khurshid
Toyota Corolla 699,000 627,758 71,242 510,000 438,758  Negotiation Mr. Mati ur Rehman (Employee)
Toyota Corolla 1,202,500 481,000 721,500 800,000 78,500   Negotiation Dr. Masood Iqbal Sajid
Suzuki Baleno 512,000 511,990 10 10 -       Retirement Benefits Mr. Riaz A. Khan
Suzuki Cultus  537,654 537,644 10 10 -       Retirement Benefits Mr. Abdul Khaliq
Suzuki Cultus  565,075 226,030 339,045 339,045 -        Retirement Benefits Mr. M. Ishaq Khan
Suzuki Cultus 561,500 505,350 56,150 56,150 -       Retirement Benefits Mr. Ahmad Din

4,753,396 3,266,434 1,486,962 2,119,215 632,253

Furniture and fixture

Chairs, tables and racks  818,492 592,308 226,184 117,000 (109,184) Negotiation Mr. Shahzada Samuel
Miscellaneous furniture 23,013 21,008 2,005 14,200 12,195 Retirement Benefits Ex-employees
Crokery & Cutlery  196 194 2 200 198 Negotiation Ex-employees

841,701 613,510 228,191 131,400 (96,791)

Rupees 34,918,360 14,473,518 20,444,842 20,484,011 39,168 
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17.3 Depreciation for the year has been
apportioned as under:

Cost of sales 526,663,809 253,998,842

Administrative and selling expenses 7,901,890 10,031,523
Amortisation of catalyst 657,300 –       
Experimental farm 4,564 –       

535,227,563 264,030,365

18 CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

Civil Work 134,667,619 488,574,237
Plant and machinery 44,055,354 1,975,292,610
Electric Installations –         15,920,713
Office equipment fitting and others –        116,100

178,722,973 2,479,903,660

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development costs 19.1 47,948,625 64,221,974
ERP – Oracle financial 19.2 12,596,184 9,715,302
Goodwill 38.1 3,710,522,948 –       

3,771,067,757 73,937,276

19.1 This relates to expenditure on development of new products to gain competitive
advantage in the national and international market. The management plans to
continue this policy and increase research and development spending in the times
to come.

Cost 81,187,908 81,187,908
Amortization
As on 01 January, / 01 October, 16,965,934 –       
For the year / period 16,273,349 16,965,934

As on 31 December, 33,239,283 16,965,934

47,948,625 64,221,974

19.2 This represents cost relating to implementation of oracle financial, which is under
process as at balance sheet date.

20 LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

Others 

Available for sale

Quoted – at fair value

Colony Textile Mills Ltd.

4,332 (2005:456) ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 8,664 8,664
Appreciation in value of investment 29,024 2,736

Market value Rs.8.70 per share (2005: Rs.25.00) 37,688 11,400

BSJS Balanced Fund Ltd.

1,000 ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each. 10,000 10,000
Appreciation in value of investment    1,400 3,250

Market value Rs.11.40 per share (2005: Rs.13.25)  11,400 13,250

Unquoted       

National Security Insurance Co. Ltd.
221,504 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each 996,768 996,768
Equity held 12.66% (2005: 12.66%)    
Provision for impairment (996,768) –        

–         996,768

49,088 1,021,418
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21 LONG TERM ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS

Advances
Advances to staff – unsecured, considered good 10,275,023 –        
Advances to staff – secured, considered good 2,201,805 –        
Less: Current portion grouped under current asset (3,581,095) –        

8,895,733 –        
Deposits 21.1
Opening balance 29,745,135 18,517,830
Deposits of subsidiary 3,383,297 –        
Costs incurred during the year 1,201,647 11,227,305
Refund received (10,069,300) –        

24,260,779 29,745,135

33,156,512 29,745,135

21.1 These include security deposits for electricity Rs. 5,327,400 and with Sui Northern
Gas Pipe Lines Ltd. Rs.5,235,500 (2005: Rs.15,265,300).

22 STORES, SPARES AND LOOSE TOOLS

Store 129,415,302 60,280,813
Spares 653,733,146 27,069,375
Loose tools 3,316,870 440,167

786,465,317 87,790,355

22.1 Included in stores and spares are items in transit valuing Rs.5.665 million (2005:
Rs.0.662 million).

22.2 The Group does not hold any stores and spares for specific capitalization.

22.3 The value of slow moving stores and spares is not material and hence no provision
is made in these financial statements.

23 STOCK IN TRADE

Raw materials 1,395,795,324 1,507,912,595
Work in process 342,640,598 227,469,465
Work in process – trial run –         10,272,756
Finished goods 378,975,303 266,597,655
Finished goods – trial run –         23,446,575
Waste 122,719 176,023

2,117,533,944 2,035,875,069

23.1 Included in raw materials are stocks in transit valuing Rs.14.967 million
(2005:Rs.62.030 million) and stocks in Customs Bond Nil (2005: Rs.7.293 million).

23.2 Stocks amounting to Rs.1,033 million (2005: Rs.1,044.249 million) have been
pledged as security with various banks against financing facilities.
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24 TRADE DEBTS

Considered good:
Secured 24.1 533,406,805 519,678,402
Un–secured 986,982,486 514,990,993
Considered doubtful 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,524,638,639 1,038,918,743
Less: Provision for doubtful debts 4,249,348 4,249,348

1,520,389,291 1,034,669,395

24.1 These are secured by letter of credit.

25 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS
AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Advances – Unsecured considered good
To employees 25.1 & 25.2 39,577,648 31,059,330
Current portion of long term advances to employees 21 3,581,095 –       
To suppliers, contractors and others 267,849,882 407,631,218
Security deposits 7,523,215 3,115,165
Margin deposits 25.3 8,053,085 2,297,956
Prepayments 22,643,775 10,064,786
Export rebate receivable 43,340,387 56,947,188
Accrued mark–up 106,074,767 –       
Sales tax recoverable 106,264,996 81,783,885
Letters of credit 74,673,154 175,710,254
Tax deducted at source / tax refundable 221,622,317 107,828,533
Insurance claim 4,107,165 14,462,187
Other receivables – unsecured, considered good 25.4 12,141,006 6,352,225

917,452,492 897,252,727
Less: provision for doubtful advances 1,033,465 –       

916,419,027 897,252,727

25.1 Advances to employees are against purchase and other expenses on Group's behalf.

25.2 No advances have been given to chief executive / directors during the year.

25.3 It represents deposits against letters of credit and other working capital utilized.

25.4 This includes an amount of Rs. 1,033,465 receivable from Karachi Municipal
Corporation, for octroi for which provision for doubtful debt has been created.
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26 SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS

Held for trading

Quoted

Bank of Punjab
13,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –         1,358,399

Diminution in value of investment –         (26,549)
Market value Rs.102.45 per share

–         1,331,850
National Bank of Pakistan
160,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –         32,242,667

Diminution in value of investment –          (310,722)
Market value Rs.199.45 per share

–         31,931,945
Muslim Commercial Bank Ltd.
30,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –         5,428,051

Diminution in value of investment –         (394,051)
Market value Rs.167.80 per share

–         5,034,000
ABAMCO Capital Fund
4,897,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          39,910,550

Appreciation in value of investment –          26,198,950
Market value Rs.13.50 per share

–          66,109,500
Askari Commercial Bank Limited
189,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          24,089,087

Diminution in value of investment –          (60,487)
Market value Rs.126.80 per share

–          24,028,600
Fauji Fertilizers Ltd.
65,100 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          8,260,593

Appreciation in value of investment –          658,107
Market value Rs.137.00 per share

–          8,918,700
Attock Refinery Limited
46,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          8,054,170

Appreciation in value of investment –          1,513,830
Market value Rs.208.00 per share

–          9,568,000
Faysal Bank Ltd
183,800 ordinary share of Rs.10 each –          35,425,806

Appreciation in value of investment –          4,627,097
Market value Rs.217.92 per share

–          40,052,903
Adamjee Insurance Co. Ltd.
765,700 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          22,375,803

Appreciation in value of investment –          2,804,797
Market value Rs 32.88 per share

–          25,180,600
Lucky Cement
20,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          1,584,958

Appreciation in value of investment –          93,042
Market value Rs.83.90 per share

–          1,678,000
Pakistan State Oil Company Ltd.
6,500 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –          2,761,576

Diminution in value of investment –          (52,051)
Market value Rs.416.85 per share

–          2,709,525

Balance carried forward –          216,543,623
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Balance brought forward –         216,543,623

Pakistan Industrial Credit and Investment Corporation
4,000 ordinary shares of Rs.10 each –         271,724

Diminution in value of investment –         (12,524)
Market value Rs.64.80 per share

–         259,200

Held for sale 26.1
Chanda Oil & Gas Securitization Co. Ltd
12,895 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         61,638,100

Naimat Basal Oil
3,913 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         18,275,160

Telecard Limited – TFC
3,715 scrips of Rs.5,000 each –         18,571,285

Held to maturity
Term Deposit Receipt 26.2 –         454,124,227

–         769,411,595

26.1 These investments were previously classified as long term investments however
these have been reclassified as short term investment after being sold during the
current period and the information given up relates to year 2005.

26.2 The balance of previous year represent Investment in TDRs of ABN Amro Bank
amounting to US $ 500,000/– for a period of one month at the rate of 2.60% and
in TDRs of NIB Bank amounting Rs.423.943 million for a period of one month at
the rate of 9.00%.

27 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand 5,249,764 1,504,680
Cash with banks in:
current accounts 1,109,348,922 40,664,598
saving accounts 18,368,275 4,113,383

1,127,717,197 44,777,981

1,132,966,961 46,282,661

27.1 Cash at banks on current and saving accounts include foreign currency balances
of US $ 174,635.08 (2005: US $ 158,205.83) & Euro 5,651,161.86 (2005: Euro
35,396.97) which have been converted into pak rupees at the exchange rate
prevailing on the balance sheet date i.e. US $ 1= Rs.60.78 (2005: US $ 1=Rs.
59.73) and Euro 1 = Rs.80.23 (2005: Euro 1 = Rs.70.71).
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28 SALES –Net

Local 2,420,790,503 750,216,920

Export (including indirect export)
– net of export development
surcharge amounting to
Rs.6,018,082 to (2005: Rs.5,730,404)
and exchange gain of Rs.51,671,051
(2005:Rs.14,794,775). 4,131,916,193 3,870,557,096

Waste 72,057,099 41,428,012

6,624,763,795 4,662,202,028

Less: Commission to selling agents – Local 82,884,055 34,860,167
                                                   – Export 23,033,477 19,377,301

Sales tax 991,696 136,731,073 
Brokerage and discounts 12,892,405 10,404,558

119,801,633 201,373,099

6,504,962,162 4,460,828,929

29 COST OF SALES

Raw materials and other direct materials consumed 2,752,329,067 1,824,980,048
Salaries, wages and benefits 29.1 632,755,940 354,746,907
Fuel and power 621,964,605 333,090,255
Store and spares consumed 120,730,506 152,724,507
Traveling, conveyance and entertainment 46,802,918 9,220,631
Rent, rates and taxes 10,550,385 5,141,456
Insurance 29,653,432 8,064,020
Repair and maintenance 38,413,582 22,665,131
Processing charges 29,898,239 22,330,528
Depreciation 17.3 526,663,811 253,998,842
R & D Amortization 16,273,349 16,965,934
Printing & stationery 3,732,388 3,797,218
Communications 2,813,485 1,872,407
Others 38,484,257 17,745,768

4,871,065,964 3,027,343,652
Adjustment of work in process

Opening 227,469,465 220,379,606
Stock received from trial run operations 10,272,756 
Closing (342,640,598) (227,469,465)

(104,898,377) (7,089,859)

Cost of goods manufactured 4,766,167,587 3,020,253,793
Adjustment of finished goods

Opening 266,773,678 568,868,224
Stock received from trial run operations 23,446,575 –       
Stocks of a subsidiary – PAFL    
at the time of acquisition 20,493,020 –       
Closing (464,722,688) (266,773,678)

(154,009,415) 302,094,546

4,612,158,172 3,322,348,339

29.1 Salaries, wages and benefits includes contributions in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs.14,746,685 (2005: Rs. 24,325,377).
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 06 31 December, 06
Note Rupees Rupees 

30 ADMINISTRATIVE AND SELLING EXPENSES

Salaries and benefits 30.1 160,585,218 103,970,037
Traveling and conveyance including
chief executive/directors' traveling
of Rs.3,786,603 (2005:Rs.22,367,701) 70,997,114 54,340,963
Power and fuel 5,135,713 3,303,763
Repair and maintenance 5,835,059 3,581,988
Rent, rates and taxes 3,429,834 760,014
Insurance 2,374,346 1,764,074
Freight and clearing charges 204,240,454 80,684,019
Printing and stationery 3,648,302 3,457,129
Communications 22,669,475 19,112,928
Advertisement and sales promotion 7,543,790 4,501,610
Legal and professional charges 30.2 26,764,515 6,472,585
Depreciation 17.3 7,901,890 10,285,193
Amortization of textile quota –        23,564,403
Fees and subscription 8,032,648 3,441,907
Others 24,837,513 8,242,759

553,995,871 327,483,372

30.1 Salaries, wages and benefits includes contributions in respect of staff retirement
benefits amounting to Rs.5,457,261 (2005: Rs.2,886,353).

30.2 Legal and professional charges

The charges for professional services include the following
in respect of auditor's services for:

Holding Audit fee 200,000 125,000
Half yearly review fee 55,000 35,000
Review report on code of
corporate governance 35,000 25,000
Certification and other services 315,000 161,250

PAFL Audit fee 495,225 –        
APL Audit fee 35,000 20,000

1,135,225 366,250

31 GOVERNMENTS GRANTS

The company during the period has lodged claims amounting for Rs.94,204,206 (2005:
Rs.53,036,367) as research & development rebate which has been treated as government
grant in accordance with IAS–20, "Government Grant" and it has been deducted in reporting
expenses relating to hiring the consultants for adoption of new technologies, innovation
and sales promotion.

32 OTHER INCOME

Financial assets
Gain on sale of investments 58,478,149 199,442,372
Unrealized gain on investments held for trading –         35,039,438
Mark–up on term finance certificates 4,206,768 29,038,697
Mark up on staff advances 743,433 –        
Dividend Income 6,079,924 38,934,462
Miscellaneous 2,045,916 2,992,762

71,554,190 305,447,731
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 06 31 December, 06
Note Rupees Rupees 

33 FINANCE COST

Interest on:
Workers' Profit Participation Fund 1,014,852 326,582

Mark up on:
Long term financing – Secured 846,475,645 93,647,624
Short term borrowings –Secured 303,840,850 176,264,631

Lease finance charges 7,911,405 9,724,293
Guarantee commission and bank charges 46,294,748 28,512,347
Less: Return on bank deposits (18,313,547) (17,966,099)

1,187,223,953 290,509,378

33.1 Borrowing cost amouting Rs.295 million (2005: Rs.92 million) were capitalised
during the year.

34 OTHER CHARGES

Loss on disposal of fixed assets (39,168) 6,661,778
Donations 34.1 100,000 4,694,172
Impairment loss on long term investment 996,768 –        

1,057,600 11,355,950

34.1Recipients of donations do not include any donee in whom any director or his / her
spouse has any interest.

35 TAXATION

Current 123,639,667 50,857,877
Deferred (65,182,370) –        

58,457,297 50,857,877

36 EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic

Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 96,298,681 643,016,382

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 218,226,289 86,865,434

Rupees  Rupees

0.44 7.40
Diluted
Net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 96,298,681 643,016,382
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Interest on convertible TFCs 60,641,595 16,478,929
Preference dividend 623,667 24,295,176

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earning per share 157,563,943 683,790,487

No. of shares No. of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic EPS 218,226,289 86,865,434
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible TFCs 26,389,317 14,767,124
Preference shares 696,835 4,203,110
Weighted average no. of ordinary shares for the
purposes of diluted earning per share 245,312,441 105,835,668

Rupees  Rupees

36.1 0.64 6.46

36.1 The effect of coversion of prefrence shares and term finance cetificates is anti
dilutive.
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37 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Primary reporting format – business segments
At 31 December 2006, the Group is organised into three main business segments:
• Manufacture and sale of a textile products;
• Manufacture and sale of urea fertilizer; and
• Development, implementation and sale of software products and providing related services.
Segment results for the year ended 31 December, 2006 are as follows:

Textile Fertilizer Software  Group
Rupees in thousand

Revenue 4,892,919 1,612,043 1,800 6,506,762
Iner segment revenue –       –       (1,800) (1,800)

Group revenue 4,892,919 1,612,043 –      6,504,962

Operating profit 795,039 543,935 (166) 1,338,808
Other income 69,970 1,584 –      71,554
Finance cost (648,650) (538,574) –      (1,187,224)
Workers' Profit Participation Fund (7,753) (346) –      (8,099)
Others (1,145) 87 –      (1,058)

Profit before tax 207,461 6,686 (166) 213,981
Income tax expense (115,569) 57,122 (10) (58,457)

Profit for the year 91,892 63,808 (176) 155,524

Other segment items included in the income statement are as follows:

Depreciation 245,663 289,414 151  535,228

Amortisation 16,273 –       –      16,273

Segment assets

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments in
associates, inventories, trade and other receivables, derivatives designated as hedges of future

Segment liabilities

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities (including derivatives designated as hedges of future
commercial transactions.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment note 17 and intangible assets
note 19, including additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations notes 17, 19
and 38.

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December, 2006 and capital expenditure for the year then ended
are as follows:

Textile Fertilizer Software  Group
Rupees in thousand

Assets 13,127,577 14,007,591 1,916 27,137,083
Goodwill 3,710,523

30,847,606
Liabilities 14,042,766 8,852,613 163 22,895,543
Capital expenditure 2,445,558 1,848 –     2,447,406

38 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Azgard Nine Limited (ANL) acquired 100% shares of PAFL on July 15, 2006 inclusive of shares offered to the employees of
the PAFL, which were divested by the employees in favor of ANL. As permitted by the terms and conditions of privatization for
the purpose of raising finance ANL formed a 100% subsidiary Dominion Fertilizers (Pvt.) Ltd (DFL), ANL by virtue of an agreement
transferred 69.90% shares in PAFL to DFL. By virtue of supplementary agreement the shares were reverted back to ANL on
merger of DFL into PAFL under the court order dated 07 December, 2006 as such effectively ANL continued to hold 100%
shares since acquisition. The results of PAFL has been consolidated from 01 July, 2006 as audited accounts have not been
prepared for the period ending July 14, 2006. Further no material changes in net assets of PAFL between July 01, 2006 and
July 14, 2006 have been estimated by the management as such the goodwill has been calculated on the basis of net assets
disclosed in audited accounts as of 30 June, 2006. The acquired business contributed revenues of Rs.1,612 million and net
profit of Rs.64 million to the Group for the period from 01 July, 2006 to 31 December 2006. These amounts have been
calculated using the Group’s accounting policies.
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Note Rupees  

38.1 Details of net assets acquired and
goodwill are as follows:

Cash paid 38.3 15,403,434,688 
Net assets acquired 38.2 11,692,911,740 

Goodwill 3,710,522,948

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business, high market demand
of urea fertilizer and the significant synergies expected to arise after the Group’s acquisition
of Pak-American Fertilizers Limited.

38.2 The fair values of assets and liabilities as of 01 July, 2006 arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment 17 12,508,712,133
Capital work in progress 6,194,416
Long term loans and advances 47,134,074
Long term deposits and prepayments 3,781,797
Stores, spares and loose tools 673,212,341
Stock in trade 24,445,078
Trade debts 256,770,942
Advances, deposits, prepayments and
other receivables 76,088,388
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities (386,956,301)
Deferred tax liability (1,516,471,128)

 11,692,911,740
38.3 Cash outflow on acquisition

Purchase consideration settled in cash 16,183,425,401
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (779,990,713)

15,403,434,688 

 39 REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND EXECUTIVES

The aggregate amount charged in the accounts for remuneration, including all benefits,
to the Chief Executive, Directors and Executives of the Company is as follows:

Chief Executive Directors Executives  
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees Rupees
Managerial remuneration

Basic salary 2,400,000 2,400,000 4,046,253 3,625,005 58,981,727 8,869,326
House rent 960,000 960,000 1,618,529 1,450,050 14,397,931 3,570,688
Utilities 240,000 240,000 404,546 362,505 4,413,057 853,851
Food allowance –      –       –       –        121,521 –    
Education allowance –      –       –       –        600 –    
Medical fund –       –       –       –         1,577,654 –    

Retirement benefits 204,000 102,000 204,000 –         4,598,508 697,790
Bonus –       –       –       –        –  185,396

3,804,000 3,702,000 6,273,328 5,437,560 84,090,998 14,177,051

Number of persons 1 1 6 5 64 1 1

39.1 In addition to above the Chief Executive has been provided with free use of the Company
maintained car.

39.2 No fee has been paid to the directors during the year (2005: NIL).

39.3 None of the directors of the Holding Company has been paid any remuneration by the
Subsidiary Companies.
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40 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The Group enters into transactions with related parties in normal course of business
at arm's length. Transaction with related parties other than remuneration and benefits
to key management personnel under the term of employment are as follows:

01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

Note 31 December, 06 31 December, 06

Associates:
Underwriting fee 13,864,624 –        
Brokerage –         4,834,233
Mark–up on short term finances –         6,604,158
Mark–up on term finance certificates 33,734,548 –        
Purchases 9,033,908 48,617,868

There were no receivables or payables to related parties except for those stated in note
7.4, 14, 25.2 and 38.

41 CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION

Spinning

No. of Rotors installed 1,752 1,290
Plant capacity on the basis of utilization converted
into 6.5s count –Kgs. 10,490,946 9,331,418
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production converted into 6.5s count –Kgs. 40.1 7,938,061 7,566,724
No. of Spindles installed 53,520 40,776

Plant capacity on the basis of utilization
converted into 20s count –Kgs.  15,224,439 14,777,085
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production converted into 20s count –Kgs. 40.2 12,085,687 12,136,950

Weaving

No. of Looms installed 166 102
Annual rated capacity on the basis of
utilization – at 38 picks –Mtrs.  23,608,088 21,433,949
(based on 3 shifts per day)
Actual production – at 38 picks –Mtrs. 14,126,437 15,951,677

Garments

No. of Stitching machines installed 1,144 537
Annual capacity on the basis of utilization –Pcs. 7,566,326 4,150,000
(based on 2 shifts per day)
Actual production –Pcs. 3,094,111 2,261,959

01 July, 06
to

31 December, 06
Fertilizer

Urea
Rated capacity on the basis of
utilization M. Tons per day 1,050 
Actual production M. Tons 194,759 

41.1 Reduced requirement of open end yarn in the fabric produced during the year resulted in under utilization
of production capacity.

41.2 It is difficult to describe precisely the production capacity in the textile industry since it fluctuates
widely depending on various factors such as count of yarn spun, spindles speed, twist and raw materials
used etc. It also varies according to the pattern of production adopted in particular period.
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01 January, 06 01 October, 04
to to

31 December, 06 31 December, 06
Note Rupees Rupees 

42 CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

(Increase) in current assets
Stores, spares and loose tools (25,462,622) (15,181,662)
Stock in trade (57,213,797) (639,451,220)
Trade debts (228,948,954) (68,771,728)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and
other receivables (excluding income tax) 136,295,541 (186,032,094)
(Decrease)/increase in current liabilities
Creditors, accrued and other liabilities
(excluding accrued financial charges) 101,371,495 (28,463,606)

(73,958,338) (937,900,310)

43 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

43.1 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability
settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction. As
at December 31, 2006 the net fair value of all financial instruments has been
based on the valuation methodology outlined below:

Long-term deposits

Long term deposits does not carry any rate of return. Their fair value of it has
been taken at book value as it is not considered materially different and readily
exchangeable.

Non-current liabilities

For all non-current liabilities the fair values have been taken at book values as
these are not considered materially different based on the current market rates
of return and repricing profiles of similar non-current liabilities.

Other financial instruments

The fair values of all other financial instruments are considered to approximate
their book values as they are short term in nature.
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43.3 Foreign exchange risk management

Foreign currency risk arises mainly where receivables and payables exists due to
transactions entered into foreign currency. The Company incurs foreign currency
risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are entered in a currency other
than Pak Rupees. The Company enters into forward contracts to guard against
exchange fluctuation and as such exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal.

43.4 Concentration of credit risk

Credit risk represents the accounting loss that would be recognized at the
reporting date if counter parties failed completely to perform as contracted. To
reduce exposure to credit risk, the Company has developed formal approval process
whereby credit limits are applied to customers. The management also continuously
monitors the credit exposure toward the customers and make provisions against
these balances considered doubtful of recovery. Out of total financial assets of
Rs. 12,376 million (2005: Rs.1,956 million), the financial assets which are subject
to credit risk aggregated Rs.1,276 million (2005: Rs.521 million). The Company
believes that it is not exposed to major concentration of credit risk.

43.5 Interest risk management

Interest rate risk represents the value of a financial instrument which will fluctuate
due to changes in market interest rate. Since the Company borrows most of the
funds at fixed interest rate or interest rate swap contracts are entered into to
hedge any movements in interest rates, the company's exposure to interest rate
risk is minimal.

43.2 Financial assets and liabilities

Interest/ Interest / mark–up bearing Non interest / mark–up bearing  

mark–up Maturity Maturity Sub–total Maturity Maturity Sub–total  
rates range upto one after one   upto one after one    

% per year year   year year   Total
annum              

             ( R  U  P  E  E  S )
Financial assets:
Long term investments –        49,088 49,088 49,088
Long term deposits –        33,156,512 33,156,512 33,156,512
Trade debtors –        1,520,389,291 1,520,389,291 1,520,389,291
Derivative financial instrument –        555,680,244 555,680,244 555,680,244
Advances, deposits and –        
other receivables –        67,641,643 67,641,643 67,641,643
Short term investments 2.60% to 9.00% –        –        – – –
Cash and bank balances 1% to 3.5% 18,368,275 18,368,275 1,114,598,686 1,114,598,686 1,132,966,958

2006 18,368,275 –        18,368,275 3,258,309,864 33,205,600 3,291,515,464 3,309,883,736

2005 473,789,508 88,847,424 562,636,932 1,359,446,844 34,415,273 1,393,862,117 1,956,499,049
Financial liabilities:
Preference shares 8.95 % – 661,738,330 661,738,330 –        –        –        661,738,330
Long term financing 5.00% to 12.65% 338,913,068 3,519,216,988 3,858,130,056 –        –        –        3,858,130,056
Liabilities against assets
subject to finance lease 5.50% to 13.46% 48,769,663 17,084,358 65,854,021 –        –        –        65,854,021
Long term deposits and
payables –        1,643,889 1,643,889 1,643,889
Short term borrowings 5.11% to 14.24% –         –        –         6,456,117,630 –        6,456,117,630 6,456,117,630
Fair value of obligation 
under swap contracts –        32,021,607 32,021,607 32,021,607
Creditors, accrued and other
liabilities 11% 40,465,455 –        40,465,455 1,697,008,207 –        1,697,008,207 1,737,473,662
Unclaimed dividend –        22,312,061 –        22,312,061 22,312,061

2006 428,148,186 4,198,039,676 4,626,187,862 8,207,459,505 1,643,889 8,209,103,394 12,835,291,256

2005 458,290,474 3,587,060,844 4,045,351,318 3,912,803,501 –        3,912,803,501 7,958,154,819

Off balance sheet items:
Commitments ANL –        –        –        193,940,000 –        193,940,000 193,940,000

PAFL 6,127,000 6,127,000 6,127,000
Guarantee –        –        –        80,000,000 –        80,000,000 80,000,000

2006 –        –        –        280,067,000 –        280,067,000 280,067,000

2005 –        –        –        300,102,000 –        300,102,000 300,102,000
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43.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying values of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial
statements approximate to their fair values.

44 DIVIDEND

Directors have proposed 11% cash dividend i.e. Rs.1.10 per ordinary share to be approved
by the shareholders in ensuing Annual General Meeting to be held on 28 June, 2007.
Total amount of cash dividend to be paid Rs.343,981,063 which has not been accounted
for as liability in these financial statements.

45 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue on 28 April, 2007 by the Board of
Directors of the Company.

46 FIGURES

46.1 Following rearrangements have been made in comparative figures to reflect the
true form of the balances and transactions:

Amount
Current classification Previous classification Note Rupees

Redeemable Capital Long term Financing 7 347,920,000
Short term investments Long term investments 26.1 88,847,424
Short term investments Current maturity long term investments 26.1 9,637,121

46.2 Figures in the accounts have been rounded off nearest to rupee.
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Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

251 1 – 100 15,570

765 101 – 500 326,997

915 501 – 1000 874,823

1852 1001 – 5000 5,125,704

479 5001 – 10000 3,780,238

160 10001 – 15000 2,058,299

112 15001 – 20000 1,987,599

66 20001 – 25000 1,517,746

33 25001 – 30000 910,015

39 30001 – 35000 1,260,680

21 35001 – 40000 792,607

13 40001 – 45000 555,514

27 45001 – 50000 1,318,730

8 50001 – 55000 422,572

12 55001 – 60000 693,977

6 60001 – 65000 372,851

8 65001 – 70000 548,754

6 70001 – 75000 446,345

10 75001 – 80000 780,094

6 80001 – 85000 497,372

7 85001 – 90000 612,022

4 90001 – 95000 367,650

16 95001 – 100000 1,598,000

18 100001 – 125000 2,021,101

8 125001 – 150000 1,086,278

6 150001 – 175000 976,264

8 175001 – 200000 1,504,662

5 200001 – 225000 1,067,350

4 225001 – 250000 961,933

1 250001 – 275000 254,900

2 275001 – 300000 570,953

2 300001 – 325000 612,500

1 350001 – 375000 351,500

3 375001 – 400000 1,170,046

1 400001 – 425000 402,900

1 450001 – 475000 465,000

2 475001 – 500000 980,000

1 500001 – 525000 525,000

2 525001 – 550000 1,087,000

1 550001 – 575000 561,518

2 600001 – 625000 1,237,421

1 625001 – 650000 648,000

1 675001 – 700000 676,500

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING (ORDINARY SHARES)
As at December 31, 2006
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Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

2 725001 – 750000 1,484,500

1 800001 – 825000 812,200

1 850001 – 875000 871,100

1 1025001 – 1050000 1,035,500

1 1175001 – 1200000 1,190,000

1 1250001 – 1275000 1,270,500

1 1325001 – 1350000 1,342,000

1 1350001 – 1375000 1,359,500

1 1400001 – 1425000 1,470,400

1 1650001 – 1675000 1,659,321

1 1700001 – 1725000 1,721,000

1 2125001 – 2150000 2,140,500

1 2700001 – 2725000 2,724,090

1 3025001 – 3050000 3,026,867

1 4525001 – 4550000 4,545,421

1 4975001 – 5000000 5,000,000

3 5500001 – 6000000 17,414,109

1 6500001 – 7000000 6,526,461

1 7000001 – 7500000 7,307,000

1 8500001 – 9000000 8,706,350

1 9000001 – 9500000 9,431,006

1 9500001 – 10000000 10,000,000

1 10000001 – 10500000 10,072,669

1 12000001 – 12500000 12,217,904

1 14000001 – 14500000 14,025,000

1 17500001 – 18000000 17,672,270

1 28000001 – 28500000 28,072,270

1 36000001 – 36500000 36,385,307

1 59000001 – 59500000 59,264,827

4918 312,710,057

Shareholder's Number of Number of
Category Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

Individual 4778 188,024,277 60.13

Investment Companies 4 90,000 0.03

Insurance Companies 8 2,340,621 0.75

Joint Stock Companies 93 79,722,775 25.49

Financial Institutions 30 42,266,566 13.52

Modaraba & Modaraba Companies 5 265,818 0.08

Total 4918 312,710,057 100.00

PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING (ORDINARY SHARES)
As at December 31, 2006



AZGARD-9

106

CATEGORIES OF NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF
SHAREHOLDERS   SHAREHOLDERS  SHARES HELD

Associated Companies, Undertakings
and related parties Nil Nil

NIT and ICP 1 14,929

Directors, Chief Executive Officer
and their spouses and minor children

Mr. Mueen Afzal Chairman 1 1
Mr. Ahmed H. Shaikh CEO 1 28,072,270
Mr. Aehsun M. H. Shaikh Director 1 17,672,270
Mr. Khalid A.H. Al-Sagar Director 1 4,545,421
Chief Justice ( R ) Mian Mahboob Ahmad Director 1 1
Mr. Ali Jehangir Siddiqui Director 1 1
Mr. Mohammed Khaishgi Director 1 1

Executives Nil Nil

Public Sector Companies and Corporation 93 79,722,775

Banks, DFIs, NBFI, Insurance Companies
Leasing Companies, Modarabas & Mutual
Funds 47 44,963,005

Shareholders holdings ten percent or
more voting interest of the Company

Mrs. Nasreen H. Shaikh 1 55,369,989

Detail of trading in shares by the Directors, NIL
CEO, CFO, Company Secretary, their 
Spouses and Minor Children.

CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDERS (ORDINARY SHARES)
As at December 31, 2006
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PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING (PREFERENCE SHARES)
As at December 31, 2006

Shareholder's Number of Number of
Category Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

Individual 153 33,880,320 51.20

Investment Companies 0

Insurance Companies 0

Joint Stock Companies 6 21,770,632 32.90

Financial Institution 6 9,568,739 14.46

Modaraba Companies 0

Other 1 954,142 1.44

166 66,173,833 100.00

Number of Shareholding   Total Shares
Shareholders  From  To  Held

8 1 – 100 288
41 101 – 500 15,374
21 501 – 1000 19,400
39 1001 – 5000 104,435
16 5001 – 10000 128,944

1 10001 – 15000 11,178
3 15001 – 20000 55,750
2 20001 – 25000 45,750
3 25001 – 30000 83,220
1 30001 – 35000 31,663
1 35001 – 40000 38,625
1 45001 – 50000 50,000
1 50001 – 55000 50,250
1 70001 – 75000 75,000
2 75001 – 80000 159,734
1 85001 – 90000 85,875
2 90001 – 95000 187,984
4 95001 – 100000 400,000
1 150001 – 175000 151,875
1 200001 – 225000 225,000
1 225001 – 250000 244,125
1 275001 – 300000 277,000
1 650001 – 675000 656,625
1 775001 – 800000 799,345
1 850001 – 875000 853,500
1 950001 – 975000 954,142
1 1150001 – 1175000 1,160,241
1 2225001 – 2250000 2,250,000
1 2750001 – 2775000 2,775,000
1 2975001 – 3000000 2,988,577
1 3000001 – 3025000 3,003,625
1 3075001 – 3100000 3,090,793
1 6500001 – 7000000 6,512,632
1 9000001 – 9500000 9,160,542
1 12500001 13000000 12,605,042
1 1650001 17000000 16,922,299

166 66,173,833
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CATEGORIES OF NUMBER OF  NUMBER OF
SHAREHOLDERS   SHAREHOLDERS  SHARES HELD

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES, UNDERTAKINGS

AND RELATED PARTIES Nil Nil 

NIT and ICP 1 849

Directors, Chief Executive Officer Nil Nil
and their spouses and minor children

Executives Nil Nil

Public Sector Companies and Corporation 6 21,770,632

Banks, DFIs, NBFI, Insurance Companies
Leasing Companies, Modarabas & Mutual
Funds 7 10,522,881

Shareholders holdings ten percent or
more voting interest of the Company

Mrs. Nasreen H. Shaikh 1 16,922,299
Jahangir Siddiqui & Company Limited 1 12,605,042
Jahangir Siddiqui Security Services Ltd. 1 9,160,542
Detail of trading in shares by the Directors, NIL
CEO, CFO, Company Secretary, their 
Spouses and Minor Children.

CATEGORIES OF SHAREHOLDERS (PREFERENCE SHARES)
As at December 31, 2006
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FORM OF PROXY
AZGARD NINE LIMITED

I/We

son/daughter of                                                           a member/members of Azgard Nine Limited and holder

of =                                                         = shares as per Registered Folio #

do hereby appoint Mr./Ms.

son/daughter of                                                  or failing him/her Mr. Ms.

son/daughter of                                              who is also member of the Company vide Registered Folio

No.                          as my/our Proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual

General Meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday the June 28, 2007 at 10:00 a.m at the Registered

Office of the Company Ismail Aiwan-i-Science, Off Shahrah-i-Roomi, Lahore and at any adjournment thereof.

As witness wherepf on this                 day of                      2006.

WITNESSES:

1. Signature:

Name

Address

NIC:

2. Signature:

Name

Address

NIC:

NOTE:

1. The Form of Proxy should be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not later
than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting.

2. CDC Shareholders, entitled to attend and vote at this meeting, must bring with them their
national Identity Cards/Passport in original to provide his/her identity, and in case of Proxy,
must enclosed an attested copy of his/her NIC or Passport. Representatives of corporate
members should bring the usual documents for such purpose.

Affix Revenue
Stamp of Rs. 5/-

Signature of member(s)

Affix Revenue
Stamp of Rs. 5/-

Signature of member(s)



The Company Secretary,

AZGARD NINE LIMITED
ISMAIL AIWAN-E-SCIENCE
OFF SHAHRAH-E-ROOMI
LAHORE, 54600

AFFIX
CORRECT
POSTAGE
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